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AND SERVICES

Tuesday, October 4, 2005

‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:00 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Good morning, everyone.  Today is the twenty-eighth day of the hearing of applications EB‑2005‑0001 and EB‑2005‑0437 submitted by Enbridge Gas Distribution.


This morning we will begin with the motion by Accenture regarding an undertaking.  

Are there any preliminary matters?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MS. FUNG:  Yes, Madam Chair.  If I may introduce myself, my name is Anna K. Fung, F-U-N-G, and I represent Terasen Inc.


MS. NOWINA:  Good morning, Ms. Fung.


MOTION RE LEAVE TO INTERVENE:


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. FUNG:


MS. FUNG:  Good morning, Madam Chair and Members of the Panel.  I'm here to seek leave to intervene in this proceeding for the limited purpose of speaking to the application this morning which has been brought by Accenture for the Board to set aside or amend the undertaking that was imposed on Enbridge, I believe, on September 26th.


I had filed, by way of a notice of intervention yesterday, which was sent by fax to the Board and, as well, sent by e‑mail to intervenors -- and I do apologize for the late notice, but we had just received notice yesterday morning of the application by Accenture.


First of all, why are we here?  As I said, Terasen Inc. is here only for the limited purpose of speaking to this application.


Terasen Inc. is a 100 percent shareholder-owned, publicly-traded company.  We are in the business of engaging in the business of energy distribution, energy transportation and also providing various regulated, as well as unregulated, competitive services to utility and energy product service providers.


One of the interests that Terasen Inc. holds is a 30 percent interest in CustomerWorks Limited Partnership, and one of our subsidiaries is Terasen Gas Inc., which is the largest gas distribution utility in the British Columbia and it is regulated by the British Columbia Utility Commission.


Now, Terasen Inc. Gas Inc. is also one of the utilities to which CustomerWorks provides customer care services pursuant to the CustomerWorks Limited and Accenture program agreement that's the subject of the production order that was made by this Board.


We have an interest, as one of the parties and investors in CustomerWorks, to ensure that sensitive commercial information is protected from disclosure in a public hearing in Ontario.


As well, we would point out that Terasen Gas Inc., which was the former employer of some of the employees that were transferred from Terasen Gas Inc. to CustomerWorks, they have information that's contained in the program agreement and, hence, their privacy is at issue with respect to the order that requires production of the CustomerWorks program agreement.  


As I said, I would like to seek the permission of this Board, at this late stage, for leave to intervene to speak in support of Accenture's application.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Fung.  

Do any other parties have a submission on the intervention of Terasen Inc.?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. WARREN:


MR. WARREN:  Yes, Madam Chair.  On behalf of my client, the Consumers Council of Canada, we oppose the application.  We're troubled, frankly, Madam Chair, by the attempt by Terasen Inc. to intervene in this process.


Ms. Fung said, and my note of her was, that she has an interest as a partner in CustomerWorks Limited Partnership that sensitive information not be disclosed.  Now, as the Board will recall, we've had submissions from counsel for CustomerWorks Limited Partnership on a number of occasions here.  I think it reasonable for the Board to assume, and I know that on behalf of my client I assumed, that when counsel speaks on behalf of CustomerWorks Limited Partnership, they are receiving instructions from the limited partners.


We now have the unusual circumstance where one of the limited partners seeks to separately intervene, and Ms. Fung has not described why her interest is any different from that of CustomerWorks Limited Partnership.


The reason I'm troubled by it, Madam Chair, is that I ‑‑ in my respectful submission, the Board is entitled to rely on the representation of counsel, when they say they act for CustomerWorks Limited Partnership, that they are speaking on behalf of that entity and representing the interests of the two limited partners.


For them ‑‑ and you can appreciate, Madam Chair, the unusual circumstance that CustomerWorks Limited Partnership is in, in this application, is that when the Board made its order or the undertaking, CustomerWorks Limited Partnership was present in the room and was represented by counsel and said absolutely nothing; didn't oppose it.  We now have the troubling circumstance where CustomerWorks Limited Partnership differently represented, this time in the person of one of the partners, seeks to come and make, I take it, a different representation.  


In my respectful submission, Madam Chair, that is very troubling and should not be allowed.  We have heard from CustomerWorks Limited Partnership, or, rather, by their silence, we have heard from CustomerWorks Limited Partnership, and its limited partner should not now, in my respectful submission, be allowed to have a separate place at the table.  


Those are my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Are there any other submissions?  Ms. Fung, do you want to respond to Mr. Warren's comments?


MS. FUNG:  Yes, Madam Chair.


MR. THOMPSON:  Madam Chair, did you ask for other submissions?


MS. NOWINA:  I did, Mr. Thompson.  Sorry.


MR. THOMPSON:  I'm supporting Mr. Warren, so if it's timely, should I go now or do you want to hear the supporters of Terasen first?


MS. NOWINA:  Just your submission on Terasen being an intervenor, if you have one now.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR THOMPSON:


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, all right.  Thank you.  Yes, we support Mr. Warren's submission and submit that Terasen Inc., the interest that it purports to represent here is the same interest as CWLP.


In terms of the record for the Accenture motion, as well as the Terasen motion, I would like to ask, if I might through Board counsel, to have the letters that gave rise to this matter marked as exhibits.  I don't have copies of them.  I assume that Mr. Howe or somebody would be filing them.  

There are six of them.  The first is the letter from Mr. Howe of September 26th, 2005.  The second, then, is motion letter of September the 27th.  There is a letter from my firm September 27th.  There is another letter from Mr. Shepherd.  There is a letter - I think it's the 28th - from counsel for CWLP that was sent to the Board explaining that her silence in the proceedings before you, when the undertaking was requested or directed, was deliberate.  Then, finally, we have the letter from Terasen seeking intervenor status.


As I say, I request that those documents be marked as exhibits in this particular hearing, if that is not unacceptable to the Board.  


And moving from there to my position on Terasen's application, if you look at the letter that counsel for CWLP submitted to the Board, it indicates, as I recall it, that the silence -- when the Board made the request for undertaking during the appearance of Mr. Dodd, the silence of CWLP was deliberate.


So you have a situation, in my respectful submission, where one of the owners of CWLP is now coming before you to make a motion ‑‑ or to support a motion to set aside an undertaking request or directive, when the entity in which Terasen has 30-percent ownership interest did nothing.  


I submit to you it would be inappropriate to now allow the 30-percent owner to, in effect, take a position different from the entity in which it has an ownership interest.


There is one precedent decision that I would like to draw to your attention to which dealt with a similar type of situation.  This dates back to the ruling that the Board made years ago in connection with rental program deferred taxes in connection with Enbridge Gas Distribution.


The ruling made in the initial case allowing Enbridge to recover up to $50 million from ratepayers was challenged by Enbridge in a motion for review before the Board.  And on that motion, Enbridge Inc., an owner of EGD, sought leave to intervene to make submissions on the basis that it had an interest in the initial order that had been made.  In ruling on that motion, the Board did not grant Enbridge Inc. intervenor status.  I submit we're dealing with the same situation here, where a ruling has been made and then some party with an ownership interest against which the ruling has been made and to which the party in which the person seeking intervenor status now seeks leave to participate, where that corporation, in this case CWLP did nothing, it's now inappropriate, in my submission, to allow Terasen to take a different position.  Those are my submissions.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  In regards to the letters you would like marked as exhibits, does anyone have all the copies of those letters in the hearing room now?
     MR. MILLAR:  We don't have all of the letters here, Madam Chair.  We do have them, of course, but we don't have them in the room with us and we certainly don't have copies.
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson, we will undertake to do that at the break and bring those forward, if that works for you.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.
     MS. NOWINA:  Does anyone else have submissions in support of Mr. Warren and Mr. Thompson's position?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Madam Chair.
     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SHEPHERD:
     MR. SHEPHERD:  We have a more practical approach to this.  I guess our concern is, first, we have Enbridge resisting giving information.  Then we have the next layer of defence, which is CWLP.  Then we have the next layer, which is Accenture.  Then we have the next layer, which is Terasen.  Presumably they will want yet another kick at the can if they lose today.   And ECSI will come in and, Enbridge Commercial Services and say, Oh, no, hang on, we weren't there, it's our turn.  Then if they lose, then EI will come in and where will it end.  We will have Kofi Annan’s lawyers coming in and saying, Sorry, you know, I might be interested in this too.  There's a point at which the Board has to say, Look, you have to be at the table at the time we're dealing with the issue.  We dealt with the issue already once, twice, three times, so enough already.  
     I think that the answer to Terasen is "enough already".
     Those are our submissions.
     MS. NOWINA:  Any other supporting that position?

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DINGWALL:
     MR. DINGWALL:  CME would like to briefly lend its  support to those comments put forward by Mr. Warren, Mr. Thompson and Mr. Shepherd.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DeVELLIS:
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Madam Chair, the arguments have already been made, but VECC also supports Mr. Warren, Mr. Thompson and others.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.
     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. ADAMS:

MR. ADAMS:  And Energy Probe also.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Adams.
     MR. DINGWALL:  We all agree.
     MS. NOWINA:  It appears so.  Is there anyone, other than Ms. Fung, who we’ll give an opportunity in a moment, anyone supporting the position of Terasen?  

Mr. Cass.

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. CASS:
     MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, pardon me.  I'm speaking up only because I heard Mr. Thompson refer to what he called a precedent from a case that I was involved in, and others in this room were involved in as well.  However, Ms. Fung, I'm sure, would not be aware of that so-called precedent and would not be in a position to respond to it.  So perhaps it falls on to me to at least make some comment about what Mr. Thompson called a precedent.
     Madam Chair, in that case that Mr. Thompson referred to, there had been a full examination of the deferred taxes issue with the participation of Enbridge Gas Distribution. The Board's concern, as I understand it, regarding the review motion and the attempt to intervene by Enbridge Inc. was in that context that there had been a full examination of the issue involving Enbridge Gas Distribution.
     Madam Chair, in my submission, this is a completely different situation.  I'm not aware that anybody directed any submissions to the Board about the filing of the entire program agreement before the Board directed an undertaking be given.  So it is not like there was a complete examination of the issue involving submissions from any parties.  And in my submission, that is a fundamental distinction between this case and what Mr. Thompson has called a precedent.  Thank you, Madam Chair.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. ROBINSON:
     MR. ROBINSON:  Madam Chair.  My name is Sandy Robinson.  I was not present when the direction was made, but -- I act for CWLP.  I want to support Anna Fung's application.
     One of the issues is, and I have read the transcript, is the order that was made, as I read it, was that there was -- I will just read it.  

“Ms. Nowina:  How we are going to take care of

that, Mr. Dingwall, is we are going to get an

undertaking that Mr. Dodd file the complete

unredacted document as a confidential document in

that proceeding.”
     “Mr. Dingwall:   Madam Chair, that is completely

more efficient than what I could have done.

Thank you very much.  And those are my

questions.”
     That was the way the matter was left.
     But what was not discussed or gone into is, who was to have access to the confidential document, and our position is that that needs to be clarified.  If the confidential document, the whole of the program is for the use of the Board only, then that is fine.
     But there has been a previous ruling that stated that the parties were only to have access to the redacted document and the full document was just so that the Board could satisfy itself as to what had been redacted.
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Robinson, is this about the intervention of Ms. Fung?
     MR. ROBINSON:  Well, yes, it is because what we get into, then, is the terms of the confidentiality.  What is confidential and how is it to be used, and that is an issue that hasn't been addressed.  And I think Terasen does have a different interest in that regard, because it is, as well as being a 30 percent owner, if you like, it is also a customer.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

Mr. Howe, do you wish to make submissions?

SUBMISSIONS BY MR HOWE:
     MR. HOWE:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  I support the intervention.  Just by way of rebuttal to Mr. Thompson.
     Mr. Thompson, I think, looks at the letter from Ms. Sims and draws the wrong conclusion.  I'm looking at the September 28th, 2005 letter from Ms. Sims where she explains her understanding of the undertaking that was made by the Board on September 26th.
     What Mr. Thompson says is, her silence should be taken as agreeing not to contest the undertaking.  And I say quite the opposite.
     She talks about the fact that she is not getting into the merits of the Accenture motion.  In other words, she's going to leave it to the Board to decide whether or not the program agreement is to be delivered to the intervenors on a redacted or unredacted basis.
     She then goes on to explain her understanding of the undertaking and then she also talks about the fact that the issue of Accenture and other third parties having privacy and confidentiality interests in the program was not raised.  In other words, she is not acquiescing in the Board's order.  She's putting on the record her understanding of the order, and we have Mr. Robinson today who will provide you, presumably, with his submissions on behalf of CWLP.
     So, I would disagree with my friend Mr. Thompson on the characterization of Ms. Sims' letter.
     The second point I would make is, Ms. Fung talked about the fact that not only is Terasen a partner in CWLP but CWLP provides services to a subsidiary of Terasen, Terasen Gas Inc., and that by reason of the provision of those services, there are confidentiality issues and privacy issues in the program agreement.
     Now, I have delivered to the panel this morning three documents.  I have delivered to you the program agreement in its unredacted form.  I have delivered to you the index to the program agreement.  And the transcript of the 2003 proceeding.  When we get into the merits of the motion, I intend to go through that in some detail.  But the point I'm making is, you will come to realize that the program agreement contains not only confidential information for non-EGD corporations and people, but it also contains a huge amount of privacy information, employee, salaries, benefits, that sort of thing.  And those are the issues that we argued about in 2003 and came to what we thought was a consensus in 2003.
     So for those reasons, I support Terasen being made an intervenor.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Howe.  

Ms. Fung, if you would like to respond, and when you do --
     MR. HOAKEN:  I'm sorry, could I briefly speak for this matter?  Eric Hoaken for Direct Energy.
     MS. NOWINA:  Yes, Mr. Hoaken.

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. HOAKEN:

MR. HOAKEN:  Just briefly, I would say that Direct Energy is here to deal with this motion in its capacity as a customer of CWLP.  And, in that respect, I think Terasen is in a similar position as a customer, and in that capacity, much as Direct Energy has ‑ and I will get into this in my submission on the merits ‑ it has provided confidential information and, in that respect, has an interest that is distinct and separate from that of CWLP.


That being the case, and given the capacity in which Terasen is presumably here to deal with this matter, we support their intervention.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Hoaken.  Do I have everyone?  Ms. Fung, if you would like to respond, and I would like you to address the issue of CWLP's interest compared to Terasen's interests.


MS. FUNG:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I'm indebted to Mr. Cass for explaining that case to me, because I've never heard of it.


I must say I feel a little bit unwelcome here this morning, and if it weren't for the fact that we do have a distinct interest from CWLP in this transaction on the order that's been made, I would not be here, because this is not the way I want to spend my birthday, I can tell you.


Anyways, as has been explained already, Terasen Gas Inc. is a customer of CustomerWorks LP.  And Terasen Gas Inc., as I've said, is a British Columbia regulated utility, who incidentally is subject to privacy legislation.  In British Columbia, we have private sector legislation that governs all businesses operating in British Columbia.  There is no grandfathering under that legislation with respect to the employer's obligation to protect privacy rights of its employees, past, present, future.


It seems to me that one of the things that has not been brought up to date, at least in the transcript as I read it, of the proceedings that were conducted on September 26th and as outlined in volume 24, is the issue of the privacy of individuals and personal information that is contained in this program agreement.


A full copy of that program agreement would disclose names of employees, salaries, length of service, leave, anybody who has ever gone on disability leave, how long they have been gone for.  All of those things are private information that we have an obligation as a utility in British Columbia to protect, and, in fact, would be directly in breach of our privacy obligations under the Privacy Act or the Personal Protection Information Act were we forced to disclose that.  


Now, mind you, if this Board makes an order that requires that production, I guess we have an out, in the sense that there is an exemption in respect of orders, compliance with orders made by a body having jurisdiction over the entity, although one may argue and wonder whether the Ontario Energy Board really has jurisdiction over Terasen Gas Inc. as an entity operating in British Columbia.


The second issue I want to just slightly address is Mr. Shepherd's point about, Gee, if we allow Terasen in, in this proceeding, who is next, ECSI, Gaz Métropolitan, Kofi Annan?  It just illustrates exactly the point that we're trying to make here, and that is that this program agreement contains information that is not relevant to Enbridge or Enbridge's customers.  It contains information with respect to other customers of CustomerWorks, some of which are regulated, some of which may not be regulated.  And those people's businesses and their commercial information should not be made part of this proceeding, and I would just ‑‑ I'm speaking to the merits of the application here, and I realize I'm doing this in some peril, but it seems to me that that is exactly why an unredacted copy of this program agreement ought not to be put on the record for production.


I would point out in British Columbia, the British Columbia Utilities Commission, who approved the program agreement ‑‑ not the program agreement, but the transfer of the customer care services from the utility to CustomerWorks did so without requiring us to disclose any of the program agreement.


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Fung, if you can stick to your ‑‑ the argument for you intervening, we would appreciate it.


REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MS. FUNG:


MS. FUNG:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I would only point out in the transcript, at page ‑‑ volume 24 of the transcript on September 26th, 2005, at pages 19 onwards, Mr. Dodd ‑‑ and I apologize here, because I don't mean to put him out to dry on this issue, but he acknowledged that he did not have permission from either Accenture or CustomerWorks to file an unredacted copy of the documents at any time.  I'm here to tell you that Terasen did not give him that permission.


When there was a telephone call between him and Janet Kennedy of our office, and he discussed the request that came from the intervenors, she gave her consent on the basis that it would be the redacted version filed in 2003 that would be produced.


So if you're asking if we have a direct interest in this matter that's different from CWLP's as it related to what proceeded on September 26th, I say yes, because at no time did we waive our right to confidentiality in the program agreement, nor did we give any permission to Mr. Dodd to produce an unredacted copy of the program agreement.


So those are my submissions, Madam Chair.


MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, could I ask for clarification, through you from Ms. Fung of a point which she has raised in her submissions?  It is now unclear to me whether Terasen Inc. is seeking intervenor status or Terasen Gas Inc. is seeking intervenor status.  The reason I ask the question is that if Terasen Gas Inc. is seeking intervenor status, because it is ‑‑ has an agreement with CWLP, then the ‑‑ we're really close to opening Pandora's box, because if the Board ‑‑ I raise the question, if the Board is going to make an order which allows a secondary customer status, then it seems to me incumbent on us to give notice to all of the customers and we have opened the Pandora's box that my friend, Mr. Shepherd, has talked about.  


So it seems to me that there is an obligation on counsel to be quite precise about whom they're acting for.  Does Ms. Fung want intervenor status for Terasen Inc., or does she want it for Terasen Gas Inc.?


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Fung, I read your letter as asking for intervenor status for Terasen Inc.; is that correct?


MS. FUNG:  Yes, I am, Madam Chair.  I only raise the issue of Terasen Gas Inc. as one the considerations that the Board ought to take into account when determining whether it's appropriate to order the disclosure of the complete program agreement, because that is one of the parties whose information will be disclosed as a result of that order.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Give us a moment, please.


[The Board confers]


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Ms. Fung, just on that last point, the question is Terasen Inc. employees.


Now, is the private information of Terasen Inc. employees included in this filing?


MS. FUNG:  Now I'm going to have to give you a bit a history of Terasen Inc., if you will bear with me.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, they either are or they are not.


MS. FUNG:  They are employees of Terasen Gas Inc., that's right.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Robinson, I took your submissions to be to the ‑‑ going to the question of the distribution -- the terms of confidentiality and the distribution of the document; is that correct?


MR. ROBINSON:  That's correct.  Our position is that the unredacted document, which has been ordered to be produced, is produced only for the Board.  It's confidential.  No one else can see it.


The redacted copy will be filed and is for the use of all members who sign a confidentiality agreement.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  How would parties know ‑‑ it's a kind of catch-22 situation, Mr. Robinson, and one that is not novel.  How would parties know whether the material that has been redacted is relevant or not relevant?  How would they come to that conclusion?


MR. HOWE:  Mr. Sommerville, maybe I can jump in, because we went through this in 2003, and there was an agreement in 2003 which I intend to take the Board through when get into the merits of the motion, because there were a series of motions.  There was some litigation.  There were subpoenas issued, and at the end of the day, it was agreed that the producing parties would provide to the Board the unredacted versions of all of the documents.  


An index was made available, and the producing parties went through the index, and the Board then decided, on its own, what was relevant and what was confidential.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What I'm trying to get at, Mr. Robinson, is the ‑‑ is your position, as opposed to counsel who appeared before for CWLP.


MR. ROBINSON:  I don't think my ‑‑ I don't think my position is different.  I think that what the Board didn't do is take the next step and to clarify how the unredacted document could be used.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Do I take it then that you're prepared to make submissions on behalf of CWLP with respect to this subject matter this morning; is that what you're here to do?
     MR. ROBINSON:  Well, we are here in support of Mr. Howe's motion.  So we would -- our position would be that the 2003 settlement agreement, which was an agreement that was approved by order of this Board, should apply.
     And when you ordered the unredacted document to be filed, it was in furtherance of that settlement, so that the Board could satisfy itself.  It wasn't being provided under different terms.
     [The Board confers]
     MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Fung, you will be spending your birthday with us.
     MS. FUNG:  I'm not sure I should say thank you.

DECISION - MOTION RE LEAVE TO INTERVENE:
     MS. NOWINA:  Your request for intervention is granted.  We would -- we want to make it very clear, though, that your submissions do not just replicate CWLP's submissions and that you are appearing for a different reason on behalf of a different party.
     MS. FUNG:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair, members of the panel.
     MS. NOWINA:  You're welcome.  So I would like to -– no, I don't think I will.  I would like to get a sense of what parties will be making submissions.  Mr. Howe, I assume you will begin, and then the parties who are supporting you -- I take it is it Mr. Robinson or Robertson?
     MR. ROBINSON:  Robinson.  

MS. NOWINA:  So, Mr. Howe, you will begin.  Parties in support of Mr. Robinson you will be making a submission; is that correct?
     MR. ROBINSON:  Yes.  Brief submissions.
     MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Fung, you will be making a submission in support of the motion; is that correct?
     MS. FUNG:  Yes, I will.
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Cass, do you plan on making a submission?
     MR. CASS:  I expect to have a few brief comments, Madam Chair, thank you.
     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Hoaken, are you making a submission in support of the motion?
     MR. HOAKEN:  Yes.  I will have a previous submission in support of the motion, Madam Chair.
     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  In opposition of the motion, Mr. Warren, are you leading that?
     MR. WARREN:  I will be making submissions, Madam Chair, but it will depend on whether Mr. Howe can clarify what it is he's asking for, because it's not clear to me at all what it is he's asking for, but on the assumption that he clarifies it, then I will be making brief submissions.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Others?  Mr. Shepherd you will be making a submission?  Mr. Dingwall?
     MR. DINGWALL:  Yes.
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson?
     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, please.
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. DeVellis?
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, briefly, Madam Chair.
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Adams?
     MR. ADAMS:  I hope not to.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Adams.  Did I miss anyone?
     Thank you.  Mr. Howe, can you begin.
     MOTION ON CONFIDENTIALITY RE PROGRAM AGREEMENT

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. HOWE:
     MR. HOWE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  By way of background, my client was granted status to participate in 2003 in RP 2002-0133.  It has been an intervenor since that time but has only participated in proceedings before the OEB to address confidentiality issues.
     Now, my client was aware that Mr. Dodd would testify before the Board on September 26th, 2005.  The issue, as understood by my client, was why Mr. Dodd had filed a different version of the 2003 redacted program agreement.
     There was no suggestion, by motion or otherwise, that the unredacted program agreement would be required.  The Board's direction, in the form of an undertaking, came as a surprise to my client.  It was also contrary to the assurances given over the years by counsel for the Board Staff in 2003, 2004 and this year, in 2005.
     Originally, Mr. Moran and I talked and corresponded, and we were assured that any time issues of confidentiality and the request to file unredacted documents would come up, we would be given notice of that with an opportunity to be heard.  I had a similar conversation with Mr. Millar earlier this year and he provided a similar assurance.
     Now, to answer my friend, Mr. Warren's question, and that is, my client is agreeable to the production of the unredacted program agreement to the Board, provided that the same confidentiality protections are ordered by the Board as had been ordered in 2003.  But my client is objecting to the production of the unredacted program agreement which we say is beyond the scope of the prior order, beyond the scope of the prior agreement, and beyond the scope of relevancy requirements.
     In other words, we're not objecting to the Board having the unredacted program agreement.  And as I mentioned earlier, I have provided that to you this morning.  It should be on the right-hand side of the dais.  But we are objecting to its being made available to the parties in this room, even in confidence.  We are, however, agreeable to the 2003 redacted program agreement being made available, and as I understand it, that document has already been made available to those intervenors who have signed confidentiality agreements.
     Now, Madam Chairman, Members of the Board, I take, as you've already heard, a lot of the issues and so what I'm going to do is just ask you to turn with me to the transcript of the 2003 proceeding, which I made available to you earlier today.
     I've also indicated to my friends that I have additional copies of that document, as well as the index that's discussed in that document.  I've got them here at the corner of the table, if anybody needs a copy.
     MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we mark these as exhibits, just to keep the record clear.
     MR. HOWE:  Madam Chair, with one caveat, with your permission.
     You will note that the transcript on the front page is “Volume 20 (Confidential)”.
     MS. NOWINA:  Right.
     MR. HOWE:  Now, I don't have a problem with discussing the matters in this transcript on the record, the document being marked as an exhibit, as long as it's understood that if the Board or my friends get into information contained in the program agreement, I may be asking to go in camera at that time.
     MS. NOWINA:  That's fine.
     MR. HOWE:  But certainly on May 20th, 2003 we were in camera, but I've gone through the transcript and I don't see any reason, at this point in time, to ask to go into camera, subject to that caveat.
     MS. NOWINA:  That's fine, Mr. Howe.  Let's mark it as a confidential exhibit, Mr. Battista.
     MR. BATTISTA:  That will be KX28.1.
     EXHIBIT NO. K(X)28.1:  excerpts from transcript in 

test year 

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Howe, in order for us to enter this as an exhibit, we need copies for ourselves as well.  

Are there any additional copies?
     MR. HOWE:  Apparently they have been gobbled up.  That's just the index.  I will make them available over the break.
     MR. HOAKEN:  I'm sorry, just to interrupt; we have a spare copy to be marked.
     MR. BATTISTA:  We will characterize that exhibit as excerpts from transcript in test year 2003.
     MR. HOWE:  Now, Madam Chair members of the Board, I don't intend to read all of this document, but I would like to draw your attention to a few selected highlights.
     If you would turn with me, please, to paragraph 18, where the, then chair, Mr. Betts, makes certain comments about procedural matters.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sorry, what was the paragraph reference?


MR. HOWE:  Paragraph 18, Mr. Sommerville.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. HOWE:  Mr. Betts says:   

"When we parted last, the Board had issued a decision regarding the production of evidence in a motion that was put to the Board.  During our adjournment, there has been an agreement reached on how that evidence would be presented to the Board, or at least I should say a proposal presented to the Board.  We do appreciate the efforts made by the producing party to meet the Board's evidentiary needs, by the way.  The details of that proposal basically are as follows, and I will present those for the record.  It was proposed that the unredacted transactional documents between CWLP and CWI ..." 


Stopping there for just a moment, CWI is now called Accenture business, et cetera.  So CWI is an acronym for Accenture:

"Will be produced in confidence to the OEB panel on Tuesday, May 20th.  The Board will hear submissions from the responding parties with regard to confidentiality and relevance of the documents or portion thereof.  If the Board decides that the documents are not confidential, they will be sealed and will remain with the Panel pending the outcome of the court proceedings.  If the Board determines that the documents are confidential, the Board will require anyone seeking copies of them to sign a confidentiality agreement and personal undertaking and will require that the portion of the hearing in which the documents are discussed be held in camera.  Any non‑moving party that seeks access to the documents, will be required to apply to the Panel.  The Panel will determine entitlement to access on a need-to-know basis.  If the Panel allows any such application, the non‑moving parties will be required to sign a confidentiality agreement and a personal undertaking and the summonses will be withdrawn."


There were two summonses issued at that time.

"As a result of that proposal, in fact, the Board withdrew the summonses to two parties on Friday ..."


I guess that would be May 16th.  

"Based upon that proposal, it is the Board's intent to move very shortly into an in-camera session to consider the confidential nature and in fact the relevancy of the evidence that has been presented to it, and we have not had a time to digest or understand, but it is here with us at this point.  That in-camera session would be restricted to the moving parties and the producing parties to deal, again, with the questions of relevance and confidentiality."


Now, if you would turn with me, please, Madam Chair, Members of the Panel, to paragraph 60 of the transcript.  I'm not going to read paragraphs 60, 61 and 62, but what you will see at that point in time is that I quote the Board's order of May the 1st, and you will see, by reading the part in quotation, that the order is very similar to this Panel's undertaking direction of September 26th of this year.


In other words, in 2003, in first instance, before the settlement agreement was reached and the proposal was accepted, the Board had issued an order for the production of the transactional documents to moving parties on a confidential basis.


Now, you will see, as you flip through the transcript, the same cast of characters.  For example, Mr. Thompson, his quotations can be found at paragraph 120.  And Mr. Thompson had made a practical suggestion at that time that the Board proceed in camera, and that he suggested the Board render a decision, and then deal with the access question after that.  


That's indeed what happened.  The documents were delivered to the Board in an unredacted state.  There was a discussion of them on the record, and after the Board had ordered an unredacted ‑‑ sorry, a redacted version to be produced, then there was a discussion about who should have access to those documents; in other words, the same situation that we have today.  


If you would turn with me, please, to paragraph 167, you will see that I identified the volumes.  There were two volumes of transactional documents that were produced in accordance with the proposal that was accepted.  You will see that there is talk in paragraph 169, and again in paragraph 170, of the index, and I have delivered the index to you this morning and made it available to my friends.


If I can ask you to fast‑forward to paragraph 184 of the transcript, you will see at the top of the page there is a discussion between Mr. Sproat and Mr. Betts.  Mr. Sproat is now Mr. Justice Sproat, and he acted on behalf of CWLP at that time.  You will see at the top of the page reference to the customer care program agreement.  


You will see at page 190 ‑‑ sorry, paragraph 190, Mr. Sproat talks about the master agreement and the schedules that it contains.  You will see a discussion of the base plan at 192.  You will see documents that are non ECG-related.  That's at 194. 


Again, I'm not going to go through this and read these paragraphs to you, but the reason for my even bringing them to your attention is to let you know that all of these documents were disclosed, and we even gave the Board the index, which was highlighted, and I characterized that in 2003 as the road map to relevance, because there were -- as you will see when you look at the program agreement, and as Ms. Fung suggested to you, there is a lot of information that's non ECG-related in that document.


So what we gave to the Board is we said, Look, these are the documents.  We've tried to make your job easier, but you don't have to take our word for it.  You can look at the document and make up your own mind as to whether or not it's relevant, or there are portions of it that are relevant, portions that are not, and we will abide by your ruling.


Now, if I can ask you to fast‑forward with me, please, to the discussion at paragraph 250 where Mr. Sproat, on behalf of CWLP, gave what I will call the theory of the redactions.  He says at paragraph 250: 

"Yes.  In other words, we wanted to comply with what had been discussed at the end of last week and, as you put on the record, we wanted to provide you with the unredacted transactional documents, and we've done that.  But what I am now indicating is that it's the highlighted portions that set out the actual contractual terms of the deal or that are necessary to understand the transaction.  The other provisions that have not been highlighted are, in our view, not relevant to the understanding the commercial deal.  If you simply scanned down them, you will see things like insurance policies, benefit plans, things of that nature, which aren't relevant to what's being paid by CWLP to CWI under this agreement.  They're not relevant to the respective rights and obligations of the parties."

     Now, you will also see a discussion beginning at 253 of the confidential information, what my friend, Ms. Fung, talked about; that is, the privacy documents that were, in many cases, omitted even from the closing book because of their highly confidential nature.  You have them, by the way, in front of you, in the program agreement.


If I can ask you to turn with me to tab 267.  Sorry, paragraph 267.  Mr. Sproat -- by the way I'm not going to repeat the submissions.  I'm just going to, in my submission.  I'm just going to adopt Mr. Sproat's submissions.  He says at paragraph 267:  

"Accenture has made the point previously that

it's a North American, if not worldwide service

provider.  That it's operating in a competitive

marketplace; that the structuring of the

transaction and in particular the economic

structuring of the transaction is sensitive and

its commercial interests would be prejudiced to

the extent that I suppose either competitors or

customers, or prospective customers were privy to

the information as to how this particular

transaction was structured, or what people were

paying under this particular transaction.  And to

the extent that Accenture is prejudiced in the

marketplace, that prejudice can also affect or

reduce amounts and benefits that CWLP might

receive under this agreement.

So if Accenture suffers an economic detriment, so

do we, and that would be my primary submission, I

think that I could add in terms of prejudice if

this was put on the public record."     

And I won't repeat, but will incorporate Mr. Sproat's words into my submission today.
     If you would turn with me, please, to paragraph 275.  There, at that paragraph, I note that CWI, which is now Accenture, is unaffiliated with the other respondents to the motion, and I think that is important to reiterate    because we're being asked to come forward and agree with a proposal to produce documents that were, in my view, never intended to see the light of day in this process, whether in camera or otherwise.
     So as Mr. Sproat said, not only are the documents sensitive because they contain pricing information, but the structure of the arrangement is also very confidential.
     As I previously indicated, Accenture provides full service customer management solutions to more than 3.5 million customers for a number of Canadian utilities, municipalities and retail energy companies, including the regulated utility that's in front of you right now.
     At paragraph 279, I talk about the highly competitive environment.  And again I won't read any of this, but I would ask the Board to be mindful of that paragraph.
     At paragraph 280 I say as follows:  

“And what I submit is, if the Board were to

accede to the submission that Mr. Sproat and I

just made, that you would provide to the moving

parties volume 1 of the documents that you have

in front of you, now on the redacted basis.  In

other words, you would remove from those volumes

the non-highlighted documents because those

documents, in our view, deal with other entities

and they're not relevant to the Board's order."     

Then there were some questions back and forth between the panel members and myself.  

And then, if I can ask you to turn with me, please, to paragraph 404.  Now, Madam Chairman -- Madam Chair, members of the panel, before we get to paragraph 404, what happened in 2003 is the Board took the two volumes of transactional documents.  It recessed.  It took the index and it considered our submissions and then came back and made its ruling beginning at paragraph 404.
     Mr. Betts says:  

"As a result of its previous orders, the Board

has received a number of orders for which

confidentiality has been requested.  Most of

these documents were delivered to the Board on

May 5th, 2003, with the exception of the CWI,

CWLP transactional documents, which were produced

today."     

Then looking at paragraph 406:  

"Addressing the relevance argument first, the

Board has reviewed all of the transactional

documents.  The Board accepts the argument made

by the producing parties and will only require

the products of those documents that were

highlighted on the index that was provided to the

Board by the producing parties with the addition

of those parts of schedule 3.01R, that are at

least relevant to EGDI.  In the Board's view the

other documents are not necessary for the

resolution of the issues before the Board."     

Now, stopping there for just a moment.  So what the Board said is, we are largely accepting the argument of the producing parties, but not entirely, because the Board wanted parts of a particular schedule that were relevant to EGDI produced as part of the package.
     At paragraph 408:  

“The Board has reviewed all of the documents in

question.  Based on its review, the Board is

prepared to grant the request for

confidentiality.  It is clear that the

transactional documents are commercially

sensitive and if disclosed would cause commercial

harm to CWI and CWLP, however the index of

documents is not confidential and will be

produced on the record.

The Board is of the view that that is

particularly important in ensuring that those

people who follow the Board's proceedings, but do

not have access to the confidential information,

will at least have an understanding of the scope

of the subject matter upon which the Board has

made its confidentiality ruling."
Now, again, stopping there for just a moment.  The

producing parties at that time didn't want the index to be produced, but again the Board exercised its independent mind and discretion and ordered the index to be produced, which was actually Mr. Thompson's recommendation.
     Paragraph 409:  

“The fact that that index is being produced

should not be seen as an invitation to parties to

make further request for production.  The Board

is also of the view that it is appropriate to

grant the requests for confidentiality with

respect to other documents that were produced in

confidence, with the exception of that category

of documents that are subject to copyright.”

You will see at paragraph 411, the Board then returns the unredacted transactional documents to the producing parties and orders the redacted document to be produced to parties who sign the confidentiality agreement.
     Now, in other words the document that was ordered to be produced, the redacted 2003 program agreement, is before this Board and has been made available to the interested parties in this room on a confidentiality basis.  They've provided presumably undertakings to continue to keep these matters confidential.
     In my respectful view, nothing has changed since 2003.  We have virtually the same parties in this room.  We had an agreed upon proposal, which was debated before this Board on a number of occasions.  We had court motions.  We had summonses being issued.  And at the end of the day, the parties agreed to put themselves in the hands of the Board and we would deliver the documents on an unredacted basis, make submissions, and the Board would determine, on its own, what documents it needed for purposes of its fulfilling its statutory obligation.
     Again, the point that I'm making is:  Nothing has changed since 2003.  Everyone has the document that the Board ordered to be produced in 2003.  So I would respectfully request that the status quo remain.  The Board didn't find it necessary in 2003 to order production of the unredacted program agreement to interested parties.  And, in my view, there is no reason for a change in the process that had been agreed upon and accepted by the Board in 2003.
     Madam Chair, members of the panel, subject to any questions that you have, those are my submissions.
     [The Board confers]

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Howe.  We will hold our questions until we've heard from other parties.


Ms. Fung, would you like to go next?


MS. FUNG:  Perhaps, Madam Chair, I could defer to Mr. Robinson first so that I can limit my remarks to Terasen Inc.'s interests as opposed to CWLP's.


MS. NOWINA:  That's fine.  Mr. Robinson.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. ROBINSON:


MR. ROBINSON:  Madam Chair, I support Mr. Howe's position.  CWLP's position was put forward by Mr. Sproat in 2003.  Parties were the same.  The confidentiality issue then was exactly the same as now.  There has ‑‑ there have been no changes, and there is simply no reason for the Board to make a different decision than it did in 2003.


The ordering of the ‑‑ when the Board ordered the undertaking be given to file the complete unredacted document on September 26th, that was not, I submit, any overruling of change to the 2003 position.  It was simply so that the Board would have the unredacted document, just as it did in 2003, and there was no particular reason to object.


So CWLP supports Mr. Howe for exactly the same reasons that he put forward.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Robinson.  Ms. Fung.


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. FUNG:


MS. FUNG:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Terasen Inc. would also like to support Mr. Howe's position with respect to the handling of the program agreement.  In short, we're prepared for the Board to receive a complete unredacted copy of the program agreement, but that be made only available to the Board and not to intervenors in this proceeding.


I would perhaps summarize my submissions on three bases.  First of all, I would urge the Board to have respect for preserving the sanctity of commercial arrangements that were entered into in good faith by arm's-length parties and not engage in overreach of regulatory jurisdiction.  


Terasen Inc. is a limited partner in CWLP, and I personally was involved in negotiating this program agreement on behalf of Terasen Inc.


I think it is fair to say that the expectation of all the parties at the table at the time were that this program agreement was not to be made subject to public disclosure, for two reasons: one, because it does contain commercial-sensitive financial information, not only relating to the substance of how many dollars would be paid by the various utilities for services rendered, but also in terms of the setting up of the limited partnership arrangements; what would go into capital expenditures year after year.  There was a base plan for a ten‑year period.  All of that is sensitive financial information that is not subject to disclosure or review in the public realm, for the reason that CustomerWorks Limited Partnership is not a regulated entity, and the partners that engaged in this enterprise at the time, including Terasen Inc. itself, is not a regulated entity.


Now, we recognize at that time, as well, that to the extent that the regulated utilities that would be buying into this service would be required to get approval for entering into such arrangements, those arrangements would be subject to regulatory jurisdiction and review, as they were in the case of Terasen Gas Inc. by the BC Utilities Commission, and I'm sure with respect to Enbridge Gas Distribution by this Board.


However, the agreement not only contains sensitive financial commercial information that has a certain competitive advantage in the marketplace, but it also contains, even more importantly, personal information relating to individuals, individual employees of the various businesses that were being transferred from the utility into CustomerWorks Limited Partnership, and it was for that reason that we put into section 7.01 of the program agreement a clause that specifically contemplates that the parties would endeavour to keep the confidential information confidential and absent disclosure.


It seems to me that, as I said, unless there is ample good reason for destroying the basis upon which the parties entered into this agreement, that we not subject the privacy of personal information and put up ‑‑ and disclose it in a public forum.


I know that this Board has an interest in transparency, as it ought to, but it seems to me there is a public interest, as well, in making sure that personal information is kept personal and private.


Now, I must say I felt some sympathy for Mr. Dodd when I read the transcript on September 26th as he was hammered by various cross‑examinations.  As I read it, and I may be putting an inflection on this that is not warranted, but he was doing his best to comply with interrogatories from the intervenors, as well as to comply with the Board's expectations.  


As it turned out, he made a mistake by filing another redacted version from the one that all the parties to the arrangement, i.e., Accenture, CWLP, Terasen Inc., anticipated he would file, and that was the one that was filed with the Board, as well as intervenors, in 2003.  He ended up filing the wrong document, with the result that this board ordered the complete disclosure of the program agreement.


It seems to me inappropriate, if I may say so, for the Board to be penalizing CWLP, Accenture and Terasen Inc. for what, at the end of the day, turned out to be a genuine mistake on the part of an employee at Enbridge.


So those are my submissions.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Fung.  Mr. Hoaken.


MR. HOAKEN:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. HOAKEN:


Three brief points.  First, we would say that the issue of third-party disclosure in this proceeding has been addressed already by the Board, and specifically in its ruling on June 30th, that details of the relationships with third parties are not required for this proceeding, and that is a position and ruling that Direct Energy certainly supports and agrees with.


The program agreement schedules in question, in my submission, contain precisely that information; that is, information dealing with the relationships with third parties.  And my friend, Mr. Howe, says, and I agree with him, that nothing has changed since 2003, but certainly nothing has changed since June 30th of 2005 when that order or ruling was made by the Board.


Point two, I say that quite apart from the fact that this information is not relevant and, therefore, not necessary for the Board, it is commercially sensitive, and I adopt and agree with the submissions made by Ms. Fung in this regard.  And I say that what the exposition of this information seems designed to do is to pursue not just an examination of CWLP's costs, but to delve further into the next layer, which is an examination of revenues, in particular, the revenues earned from individual customers, such as Direct Energy.  And that being the case, I say there are clearly commercial interests that are worthy of protection and that will be adversely affected by the order for production of the unredacted version of the schedules.


And information, such as margins earned by customers, will be revealed, and that is precisely the sort of information, confidential, commercially sensitive information, that parties such as Direct Energy, and presumably Terasen, spend much time and effort protecting and precisely the sort of commercial information that is of great value to competitors.


 And I say that this Board -- with respect, I say that this Board should not permit parties to use the process of this Board and of these proceedings to obtain that commercially‑sensitive information that otherwise would not be available to them.


Then, finally, the third point, I say that if the Board is making an order and imposing a confidentiality protection, that confidentiality protection is not sufficient to protect the commercial interests at stake.  In other words, to order this information produced to the other parties in the proceeding subject to a confidentiality protection, in my respectful submission, does not give this information the protection that it warrants and deserves.  And that is because the information then becomes known to parties here who have a competitive interest with that of some of the customers of CWLP, such as Direct Energy.  And that is information that can be commercially and competitively -- I'm sorry, that is information that would permit those parties to be commercially and competitively advantaged simply by having knowledge of the information.
     So for all of those reasons, Direct Energy supports the motion, and I just say that we certainly do agree with the proposal and remedy that's been put forward by Mr. Howe.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Hoaken.  

Mr. Cass.
     MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. CASS:
     MR. CASS:  If I can, Madam Chair, I will attempt to offer some brief comments from the perspective of the utility, Enbridge Gas Distribution.
     As I think everyone in the room would realize, a utility like Enbridge Gas Distribution, although regulated by this Board, must of necessity in many aspects of its business deal with service providers that operate in competitive markets and are not regulated by this Board.  Accenture is one example of that, but I think would just be one example of many service providers that a utility must go to for products and services that operate in competitive markets.
     Madam Chair, confidentiality, or not, these service providers that are unregulated are not accustomed, the way a regulated utility is, to having their financial affairs disclosed in a rate case.  There is no reason to think that third-party service providers are going to be keen to deal with any utility if the basis of those dealings become that they must disclose their sensitive financial information in the utility's rate case.  Confidentiality or not, these are not regulated parties and these are not parties that are used to dealing in the circumstances of a regulated proceeding.
     Madam Chair, I say this is all the more so when one starts down the road of disclosure from unregulated  

third-party service providers of their dealings with other unregulated customers, which is what we're getting into here today.  That's why we're hearing from Direct for example.  We're hearing from Terasen because they are regulated but not in this province.  

So this is the road, Madam Chair, that the utility, in its need to deal with third-party service providers is very concerned about embarking upon where third-party service providers will be in a position of thinking not only do they have to disclose, confidentiality or not, in a rate case, information about their dealings with Enbridge Gas Distribution, but also information about their dealings with other unregulated customers.
     Now, the suggestion has surfaced in this case, I think either explicitly or implicitly, that when the Board determines just and reasonable expenses for Enbridge Gas Distribution in the test year, it's somehow relevant to think about, well, what Enbridge Gas Distribution's service provider is charging to other customers.
     Madam Chair, on behalf of the utility, that causes great concern both from a relevance and a propriety point of view, to think that in the case of Enbridge Gas Distribution service providers, when this company -- when this Board goes to assess the reasonableness of charges to Enbridge Gas Distribution, it should somehow take into account charges by that unregulated service provider to other customers not regulated by this Board.
     I could go on at length about this, but for the purposes of today, perhaps I will just try to quickly make four points about why that proposition causes such concern from both a relevance and propriety point of view.
     First of all, as is apparent, we are now getting into transactions or would be getting into transactions and financial dealings between an unregulated service provider and other companies, customers that are not regulated by this Board.  These are not affiliate transactions in any fashion, when the information that is revealed has to do with the types of dealings that I'm now talking about.  

Further, as we now see, it gets the Board into the prospect of regulating or looking at transactions that may not even be occurring in Ontario, or may not involve customers from Ontario.  So that is the first concern.
     The second concern, Madam Chair, is that if this logic holds, then essentially the Board should be doing this with all of the company's expenses that it pays to third parties.  It should be having third-party service providers in to talk about what they charge to their other customers to determine whether the charges to Enbridge Gas Distribution are reasonable in that context.  Well, Madam Chair, that can't be a correct and logical proposition as to what should happen in a rate case.
     Again, I could go on at length but I will try to keep this short and just go quickly through the points.  The third point, Madam Chair, is that for the Board to look at the financial dealings between a third-party service provider and some other customers and attempt to determine what that means for the reasonableness of what Enbridge Gas Distribution pays to that service provider is something that would necessarily be very difficult for the Board to make any use out of.  What the financial dealings are between the service provider and other customers could be affected by any number of factors as between those parties that are not relevant factors as between Enbridge Gas Distribution and the service provider.
     Then the final point, Madam Chair, is that once one starts on this road, it is never-ending.  Madam Chair, we heard that yesterday.  The questions we heard yesterday when the bill access panel was on the stand, started down the next step on the road that is:  All right.  Now, let's enquire into the costs of Accenture and its             sub-contractors.  So now we peel back the next layer.  We look into the financial dealings of a third-party service provider with its customers, and then we go one level below that, and we start looking at the financial implications of sub-contractors to that third-party service provider.
     Well, Madam Chair, it is never-ending once one starts down this road and follows a path of that nature.
     So in summary Madam Chair, again, from the point of view of the utility Enbridge Gas Distribution, which has a need to go into competitive markets to deal with 

third-party service providers, we urge the Board to consider the implications of requiring a service provider to come to this Board and disclose the type of financial information that is now under discussion.
     Thank you.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  

Mr. Warren.
     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. WARREN:
     MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, I guess it is the oldest game in counsel's book to set up a straw man and then beat it to death.  I think it is incumbent on all of us in this room to step back to exactly what we're talking about in this case.  
     The context is that there was a program agreement that was filed in a redacted form, and then a different version was filed, which makes this circumstance fundamentally different than what was obtained on June 30th and what was obtained in the 0133 case.  And the reason Mr. Dodd was asked to appear by the Board was to explain why there were now two versions of a redacted document.  
     And the Board, I can only presume because it wanted to eliminate any uncertainty about the differences between the two versions, ordered that an unredacted version be provided.
     Now, when it ordered that the unredacted version be provided, it said it would be provided in confidence.  There has never been any suggestion by the Board or any intervenor that the unredacted version be made public.  So the in terrorem arguments you hear from all of my friends about how the sky is going to fall if this document is made public are irrelevant.  They're simply meant to terrorize you, because there's never been any suggestion by anybody that these documents should be made public.  Or this document should be made public.  

The only issue -- this is the reason I asked my friend, Mr. Howe, what relief he wanted and I still don't know what relief he wants but I'm going to paraphrase what I understand it to be -- is, he's saying that the unredacted version that was filed in the 0133 case, should be the only version that anybody sees and that the Board should have the unredacted version.
     Now, on behalf of my client, I understand the arguments about commercial sensitivity, and I think it was only Mr. Hoaken who managed to catch the real issue, which is relevance.  Portions of this agreement are clearly not relevant.
     So we're not talking about disclosure to the public and all of these arguments about disclosure to the public and the harm that would fall are neither here nor there in this case because nobody can test the fact that this has to be kept in confidence.

The only issue before the Board, in my respectful submission, is the confidence of the process.  Does the Board and do the intervenors have confidence that, one, they have the exact document in the right form, and, secondly, have the correct redactions been made for the right reasons?


In my respectful submission, the only way that the Board and the parties can be satisfied with that is to follow the following process, that the complete unredacted version should be made available to the Board and all of the parties.  My friend, Mr. Howe, can then take us through the document with his arguments about what should be redacted for reasons of confidentiality and relevance.  The Board will then make a ruling, on the basis of those submissions, about what should be redacted for reasons of relevance or confidentiality.  


The intervenors would return the unredacted documents to Mr. Howe, and then they would accept the ruling of the Board on what should be disclosed to the parties by way of a redacted version of the document.


As a result of that process, everyone in the room can have confidence that there is one uniform document and everybody understands what's been redacted and why.


A second layer of protection is that we all sign confidentiality agreements, so there is no possibility, without the sanction of the Law Society of Upper Canada, that this information will be disclosed.  That, in my respectful submission, is the process that should be followed in light of the problems that were caused by ‑‑ I'm prepared to accept Mr. Dodd's inadvertent redactions.  But that's the real mischief that we're trying to deal with is this lingering uncertainty that we don't know what's been redacted and why, and the way to correct that and what this process should do is to follow the process I suggested.  


My client doesn't ask that this information be made public, and the sensitive information about third-party dealings, frankly, I would rather not know it.  But the only way we can deal with it is if we have a confidential session, in camera, in which we go through this; Mr. Howe and others make their submissions about what should be redacted for, for what reasons, and then everybody has ‑‑ you have the unredacted version, and I respectfully submit the Board should keep the unredacted version so there is no question in the future about what version is floating around.  


The parties then have a redacted version and everybody understands what's been redacted and why.


Those are my submissions.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Mr. Shepherd.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SHEPHERD:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, we have five points.  The first, I guess, is a matter of clarification.  I'm listening to all of this talk, and I've lost track of what we're talking about here.


What is it that is in issue?  Is it the program agreement, including all of its schedules, or is it the transaction documents, which was the matter in issue in 2003?


If you take a look at this document called "record book index", which I don't know what exhibit it is, but it is actually included as part of X6.1.  This is the one that's been delivered today.  You will see, if you have that document there --


MS. NOWINA:  We have it, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Is it worthwhile to mark this?  Although it is included as part of X6.1, maybe it is worthwhile to mark it as an exhibit today just so we know what we're talking about.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  That's probably a good idea, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be Exhibit X ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  This is not confidential.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This was filed on the public record in 2003.


MR. BATTISTA:  In the public record?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  But it hasn't been in the public record in this proceeding; is that correct?


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is not yet in the public record in this proceeding, but it's the one that Mr. Howe was referring to as the document that the Board ordered to be filed in public, in 2003.  Mr. Howe can correct me if I'm wrong.


MR. HOWE:  I think, with respect, my friend is incorrect.  It was ordered to be produced in confidence in 2003.  In other words, the index ‑‑ and the reason I provided it to the Board and to my friends today was to follow the discussion that took place in 2003, where Mr. Sproat took us through the schedules, et cetera, that are reflected on the index.  But that index was not filed in the public record.  It was filed in camera, and it was ordered to be produced to parties who signed a confidentiality undertaking.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Howe, can I take you to paragraph 408 of the transcript you earlier referred to?


MR. HOWE:  Yes, ma'am.  Just give me a second, please.  Yes, ma'am, I have it.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Paragraph 408, just so I can make sure that ‑‑ because my understanding was different from what you've just described.  I read that sentence, and I'm quoting here from Mr. Betts' decision:

"However, the index of documents is not confidential and will be produced on the record."

     MR. HOWE:  I beg your pardon.  You're absolutely correct, ma'am.  I'm sorry.  You're absolutely correct.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  So it will be filed on the public record.


MR. BATTISTA:  We will give the index of documents Exhibit No. K28.1, and just to clarify, the previous exhibit we were talking about earlier, that's Exhibit X28.1 and that's the confidential document, the transcript.


EXHIBIT NO. K28.1:  RECORD BOOK INDEX

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, Madam Chair, Members of the Panel, my confusion comes from the fact that in 2003, we were talking about the proposal to deliver all of the documents on this list.  It's called a deal book.


Mr. Sommerville, I'm sure, will have seen lots of them.  And a deal book has all of the agreements and other papers associated with some business deals.  They were referred to as the transaction documents, and in 2003 the intervenors requested they all be filed, and, in the result, some of them were filed in full, some of them were filed redacted.  And that is what Mr. Howe has referred to as the debate in 2003.


I have to tell you that I look at the documents on this list and I see lots of things I would like to see; lots.  And I also see things that Ms. Fung could, quite correctly, say shouldn't be filed.  For example, if you look at tab 11, a confidential letter disclosing the annual salary or remuneration of all employees, not only do I not think it is relevant, but I don't think it is appropriate to have it on the record.  But, my point is a simpler one.


My understanding of what the Board asked for is what is in tab 1 of this document, which is the program agreement and its 28 schedules.  And I don't see anything on that list that is problematic, as Ms. Fung has raised.


MS. NOWINA:  Let's clarify that point right now.  That is, indeed, what the undertaking was for.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that leads to two things.  First of all, I think the arguments of Ms. Fung are not useful to you, because there is nothing in here that would raise privacy concerns, I don't think.  She can correct us if I'm wrong.


MS. FUNG:  Thank you for the opportunity.  Sorry.


MS. NOWINA:  We will come back to you, Ms. Fung, if we need to correct that impression.  Go ahead, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The second thing, I think, is that what we're talking about here is ‑‑ because we have the program agreement now unredacted.  It's already filed.  So what we're talking about is, which of the schedules are not relevant?


Now, so that's my first point, and far be it for me, by the way, to say that I wouldn't like to see all of those other things that are in those transactional documents, but too late, I think.  I should have asked for them earlier.


Our second point, and it follows along on Mr. Warren's submissions, but I want to approach it in a slightly different way -- there are two issues that are being discussed here, relevance and confidentiality.  I want to very clearly distinguish between the two.  


Relevance is a test of whether something should be in the evidence in this proceeding.  It has nothing to do with confidentiality.  That's not a consideration in relevance.  Relevance is simply about, Should the matter be in evidence?


Confidentiality comes after relevance, and it only arises once you've decided something is relevant.  Then you have to say, Now, is there some way we need to protect this, and, by the way, the Board has a set of rules for how you do that.  

     Mr. Hoaken has said some things, because of confidentiality, shouldn't be filed.  No.  Wrong.  Once the Board's decided something is relevant, it must be filed.  The Board has then a set of rules for what you do if it's confidential.  But you don't ask the confidentiality question until you've decided it is relevant.  And once you have decided it is relevant, it must be in the evidence.
     So that's the first part of this.  But then the second part of this is, the second point, which is I think the one that Mr. Warren was alluding to and I will approach it a slightly different way, is this:  We have to deal with relevance and confidentiality in two contexts.  The most obvious one, the one we're talking about, is the context of:  Is it relevant to the overall proceeding, the issues on the issues list?  Are these things relevant to that?
     However, Mr. Sommerville, I think, has raised another important point early on in this discussion, and that is, we also have to consider relevance in the context of this motion.  This is a motion to determine whether certain aspects of these documents should be included in the record.  In order to debate that, in order to discuss that and make submissions we have to know what we're talking about.
     What Mr. Howe proposes, I think, is that the Board will see the whole document and the parts of the document in which relevance is in question here, and of course he will, so he will be able to make submissions on the relevance of those components of the document, but those who wish to see the whole document will not be able to make submissions because they can't see it.
     Our view is that on this motion, it's Mr. Howe's obligation to file the whole document, let all of us see it, so that then we can debate whether individual components of the document are relevant to the proceeding.
     I'm not going to ask the Board to make a preliminary ruling on that right now.  It's one of our submissions, but I think I'm following along Mr. Warren's line that on this motion, Mr. Howe is obligated to file the document and we all have to debate whether the impugned sections are relevant or not.
     Our third point is, with respect to this question of market information and whether the prices that are -- that CWLP charges to other parties, like Direct Energy or Terasen or Gazifere as we've raised the other day -- whether those prices should be disclosed on a confidential basis.
     So the question is:  Are they relevant to this proceeding?  Our answer is that EGD has made market price relevant by claiming that the amount they recover from ratepayers should be market price.  Once they make market price relevant, it is then necessary and it's relevant to this Board's considerations that all evidence associated with market price that is available, be put on the record.  Some of the best evidence associated with market price is the price charged to Terasen, to Gazifere, to Direct Energy, et cetera, for similar services by the same entity.
     I'm not going to pursue this too far, and this is why.  If Enbridge Gas Distribution is not able to disclose this evidence, for whatever reason, they choose not to, they get their friends to come and argue that it should be secret, for whatever reason, then they have a problem, because the Board is aware that there is market information out there, and the applicant, which has the burden, hasn't filed it.  That leaves the Board with only one option, and that is to look at the cost of providing the service by the affiliate.  If you can't look at the market price because the applicant won't file the evidence you need to look at, then you have to -- you're only left with looking at cost.  That's fine with us.  We think cost is a good way to look at this issue.
     Our fourth point, responds to Mr. Howe's question:  What has changed since 2003?  Well, we've already talked about the fact that in 2003 we were talking about a completely different set of information.  It is only a subset.  However, I will tell you three other things that have changed.  First of all, the CIS is completely and fully an issue in this proceeding, and wasn't a significant issue in 2003.
     One of the schedules that is missing – which, by the way, we have a separate undertaking to produce - is the schedule on the CIS replacement.
     Secondly, we have now four financials information.  We have greater financial detail from CWLP and from ECSI.  We have actual information, that is, how much they're actually making, as opposed to in 2003 all we had was projections.  And we include, for example, the 2004 financial statements of EI, which trumpet the $20 million they're making from CWLP.  This all puts an issue now, more starkly the question of whether the ratepayers are having the appropriate amount recovered from them, which this is all information that wasn't before the Board in 2003.
     Finally, we have CWLP and/or Accenture and/or Enbridge filing a modified version of the document and getting caught.  And that's a very good reason for the Board to say, Well, let's see the whole thing, which I think is precisely what the Board did.  
     Our final comment is this.  My friend, Mr. Howe, talks about the fact that in 2003 there are all of these court motions, summonses issued and all of that sort of stuff, as if that describes the thoroughness with which the issue was dealt with.  It doesn't describe that.  Sadly, what it describes is the level of resistance that the applicant and the applicant's business partners put up to giving the applicant's regulator access to full information in order to make its decision.  And it is doing that again this year, and it is sad to see, frankly. 

Those are our submissions.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  

Mr. Dingwall. 
     MR. DINGWALL:  I think Mr. Thompson is usually next in the rotation, ma'am.
     MS. NOWINA:  He was just further back, Mr. Dingwall.  Mr. Thompson, go ahead.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Madam Chair, would it be appropriate to take the break now?  I could use a 15-minute break.
     MS. NOWINA:  Yes, we may.  We will take a break and resume at five minutes to 11.
     --- Recess taken at 10:40 a.m.

‑‑‑ On resuming at 10:55 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Mr. Thompson?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. THOMPSON:

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair, Members of the Board.


IGUA's submissions with respect to Accenture's motion to set aside the undertaking directive, in summary, are that the motion should be denied.


Similarly, IGUA's submissions with respect to Accenture's motion to vary the undertaking directive to, as I understand it, exclude allegedly irrelevant portions of the program agreement from the ambit of the directive should also be denied.


By way of overview, let me say that these submissions are based on the proposition that the undertaking directive, about which Accenture is complaining, was made on day 24 of this hearing, and the undertaking directive was that a complete copy of the program agreement be filed.


My submission is that it was completely justifiable for the Board to make that directive, because it was responding to what is substantively contemptuous conduct by CWLP, in collaboration with Accenture and EGD, and I will have a number of factual points that I will ask you to consider which lead to that conclusion, in my submission.


The second high‑level point I would like to make is in response to those supporting the motion to the effect that nothing has changed since the 0133 decision.  That submission, in my submission, should be rejected, and I will take you through the facts that I submit support the opposite conclusion, but at a high level, they fall into three or four categories.


First of all, you have the 0133 decision.  That is found as an attachment to IGUA's pre-filed evidence, and we have referred to it a number of times already.  But in that decision, in the disclosure section, the Board expressed its expectations that EGD and its affiliates would cooperate in the production and disclosure of information.


Throughout this proceeding, we have had the discussion about what is CWLP, and I think it is fair to say that on the basis of the record to date, it's a quasi‑affiliate of EGD and should be treated as if it were an affiliate.  


So the disclosure requirements expressed in the 0133 decision, in my submission, apply not only to EGD, but to CWLP.


Secondly, you have now EGD operating under the CWLP agreement for a period of three years, and that situation did not exist when we first visited this topic in the 0133 decision.


The third high‑level fact of importance, in my submission, is contained in the transcript of Day 19 of this proceeding, where we have, from EGD's expert witness, on benchmarking, Mr. Louth, an acknowledgement that what EGD ‑‑ sorry, what CWLP pays to ABSU or what ABSU charges to CWLP is relevant to a determination of what should be recovered from EGD's ratepayers.  So we have an evidentiary acknowledgement from EGD's own expert witness with respect to the issue of relevance, and you can find that at ‑‑ it starts at page 51, at line 17 and goes over to page 52, line 15.  So I won't read that into the record.


Finally, in terms of context, what you have is Enbridge's and others' resistance to the production of financial information pertaining to both CWLP and ECSI, a motion dealing with that topic and an order that that information be produced.  And there's been cross‑examination on the record with respect to that information, and in volume 23, which is unredacted, at pages 93, you have on the record what ABSU charges CWLP for all of the customer care that CWLP provides to its constituency.  


And you are aware, and everybody in this room that has signed the confidentiality agreement is aware, that there is a very significant difference between the $58 per customer that EGD is seeking to recover from ratepayers and the amount ABSU charges CWLP for the services provided to EGD and the other customers in CWLP's portfolio.


So if I could just expand on a few other facts that relate to how we submit you should respond to the motion, one of them is -- and what really starts us down this road of these production motions is CCC Interrogatory 192, and we've referred to that frequently throughout these proceedings.  And I read that to Mr. Dodd, the relevant portions of it, when he was examined on Day 24.


The question was intended to lead to the production, in confidence, of all documents relevant to the provision of customer care services to EGD.  The intent was to avoid the disclosure problems that intervenors and the Board experienced in the 0133 proceedings, and that's stated right in the interrogatory preamble.  But unfortunately the disclosure problems that we experienced in the prior case have not been avoided, and we have had very much a replay of what we experienced in that case.


The second point I would ask you to consider is that the response to CCC 192 was a carefully-considered and deliberate response, and it is evident from its contents, as well as from the examination of Mr. Dodd, that this was a collaborative effort between EGD and CWLP, and it's clear that CWLP involved Accenture in collaborating on the response to these questions.


No financials were provided, as requested.  Incomplete financials were provided, and that led to the motion with respect to production of complete financials, upon which you ruled in volume 21.


Prior to that ‑‑ sorry, subsequently to that, we then had Mr. Shepherd's examination on the very significant eliminations that occurred from the document that had been ‑‑ the program agreement that had been attached to CCC 192, and what we heard from Mr. Dodd was that that document was deliberately selected, in consultation with Accenture, and actually provided by Accenture to CWLP.  No one, apparently, took the logical step of checking with the Board to see what had actually been filed in the prior case, or, for that matter, with anyone else who, according to Ms. Persad's letter of July 7th, had probably kept the program agreement that had been filed.

     So the document was produced and attached to the undertaking request, without any reasonable effort to obtain what had in fact been produced, and despite the fact that each of those parties:  Accenture, CWLP, and EGD apparently had a complete copy of the program agreement in their possession.
     So what you have, in my respectful submission, is a deliberate filing of, what turns out to be essentially, a bogus program agreement.  And that's what you were reacting to when we had Mr. Dodd here before us.  You directed that Mr. Dodd appear, and I submit what was taking place on the 24th day of this hearing was, in effect, a show cause proceeding with respect to an apparent contempt.
     And when Mr. Dodd testified, he didn't -- none of his evidence indicated an apology when it was discovered that what they've produced was bogus.  What happened was, they used their production of what was produced as a basis for trying to negotiate some constraints on production of the document that had been produced before.
     So I suggest to you that what you were faced with was, in substance, contemptuous conduct by CWLP, with Accenture's collaboration and with EGD's wilful blindness.  So in the context of Mr. Dodd's evidence that supports that conclusion, what happened?  You directed that the entire program agreement be filed.  Now, this is after we've already got the financials and there's been cross-examination on the financials of CWLP and ECSI.
     In addition, there was no objection made by either EGD or CWLP to what I submit was a request for production of the document, but it's now being construed as a directive to produce it.  Either way, there was no objection from the parties that were sitting here dealing with this show cause problem that had arisen because of what they had attached to CCC 192.
     Then suddenly, the day of the ruling we have a letter from Mr. Howe dated the 26th of September, after the ruling is made, complaining about an order having been made.  And at that point, if you read his letter, he didn't even have instructions from Accenture.  So we have a knee-jerk reaction from Accenture, who collaborated in providing this document to CWLP, which leads to this motion and the subsequent submissions that are made in correspondence by other parties pertaining thereto.
     So in that factual context, I suggest to you it was perfectly appropriate for you to direct that the entire agreement be produced.  It really is a logical consequence of all of the financial information having been produced previously in confidence.  There was never any debate about the confidentiality of what was to be produced.  It was to be held in confidence.  So I suggest that, in the context of those facts, you should deny Accenture's motion to set aside the undertaking directive.
     It was one that was made to CWLP and EGD, who didn't object to it at the time.  Obviously, Accenture was awakened by somebody, it had to be either EGD or CWLP, and here they are trying to, in effect, review this and now we have EGD and CWLP making their objections, somewhat untimely, in my submission.
     In addition, the motion that Accenture makes is based on the grounds they didn’t have any notice.  Yet Mr. Howe, in his submissions, as I understood them, knew that Mr. Dodd of CWLP would be appearing.  Accenture's a party to this process.  They take the record as they find it and if though chose not to appear, that's their choice.  That's their option.  But they can't come in here and now complain, in my submission, about a directive that was made to EGD and CWLP and to which neither of them objected at the time.
     Accenture relies on some alleged agreement with Mr. Millar to help justify its motion, and I submit that the circumstances that have evolved during the course of this hearing, including the summonsing of Mr. Dodd to -- the request that Mr. Dodd appear, clearly are changes in circumstances that justify the action that you took, again without objection.
     So for all of those reasons, the motion to set aside the undertaking directive should be dismissed.
     With respect to the motion to vary, which is in effect one, as I understand it, to exclude alleged irrelevant portions of the program agreement from the ambit of the undertaking, I submit you should dismiss that request as well because, in my respectful submission, it's difficult for the parties to concede that portions of the agreement are irrelevant before they've seen the entire agreement.
     I ask:  Why should we even go down that road, where what is being produced is being held in confidence?  If there are points about the agreement that arise during the in camera hearing pertaining to this document that relate to relevance of any of the schedules, they can be raised at that time and the Board can rule them irrelevant.  But as I see it as inefficient to go down the road of now screening each of the schedules of the document to determine whether they're relevant or irrelevant when the entire document is going to be held in confidence and these issues of relevance, if they arise, can be addressed during the 

in-camera process that will be held pertaining to the contents of the document.
     Mr. Cass's submissions about "Where are we going, in peeling back the onion here," are incompatible with the evidence of his own expert, Mr. Louth and, in essence, they're the same submissions he made on the motion for production of the CWLP, ECSI financials that was decided against him.  So we've heard his peel-back-the-onion speech  many, many times and I'm sure we're going to hear it again in argument.  But you've already ruled against him on that point and I submit you should not rule in his favour now.
     For all of those reasons, I submit that there should be no variance to the directive, and the motion to set it aside should also be dismissed.
     Unless there are any questions, those are my submissions.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you. 

Mr. Dingwall.
     MR. CASS:  Excuse me, Madam Chair, I'm sorry to interrupt.  I just heard Mr. Thompson making allegations of contempt.  I don't think I misheard.  I don't think there was any qualification about it.  It sounded to me like a very plain allegation of contempt and I think that that is something that needs to be responded to immediately.
     He didn't specify any person that he said was in contempt, but he described it as a collaboration of Enbridge Gas Distribution, CWLP, and I guess Accenture.  Madam Chair, I don't know who he is including in that, but I assume it includes me as counsel for Enbridge Gas Distribution, and others.
     Madam Chair, this is a very serious allegation of contempt.  Mr. Thompson throws around words like "contempt, show cause proceedings" and so on like this is some kind of a criminal case before the criminal courts.  This is not, Madam Chair.  This is an administrative law proceeding governed by the Statutory Powers Procedure Act.  As this panel, I'm sure, is well aware, the Statutory Powers Procedure Act has provisions that apply to allegations like contempt, and even much less serious allegations.


They were considered by this Board in the Oakville case - that's EB‑2005‑0292 - not very long ago.  Madam Chair, section 8 of the Statutory Powers Procedure Act provides that where the good character, propriety of conduct or competence of a party is in issue in a proceeding, the party is entitled to be furnished prior to the hearing with reasonable information of any allegations with respect to that.


This Board confirmed in the Oakville decision that that provision applies, as does the rest of the Statutory Powers Procedure Act, to hearings and matters before this Board.


Madam Chair, it may be that Mr. Thompson would say that there was not an opportunity to provide reasonable information before the hearing, but the proposition emerging from the Oakville case, which I submit is a general proposition of fairness in administrative law proceedings, is that if there's going to be any sort of allegation like that against a party, the particulars should be provided and the parties should be given an opportunity to explain before the allegation is thrown around in the loose manner that Mr. Thompson is doing, Madam Chair.


This is a statutory requirement of the Statutory Powers Procedure Act as to the ‑‑ that governs hearings before this tribunal.  In my submission, Madam Chair, if there was any suggestion of contempt, it should have been put to whomever the accusation is made against prior to Mr. Thompson raising it, and the persons against whom the accusation is made should have had an opportunity to explain.  


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson, do you have a response?


MR. HOWE:  Madam Chair, sorry, I would like to say something, as well.


Over the years, we've heard Mr. Thompson's hyperbolic statements.  This is the first time I've ever heard him accuse anyone of contempt.  I was shocked when he did so.  And, frankly, he's not in a position to make that determination.


You've heard Mr. Dodd give an explanation of his having made a filing.  Now, I wasn't here and I'm not going to comment upon what Mr. Dodd did or didn't do and whether you accepted his evidence or not, but it is certainly not Mr. Thompson's position to accuse Mr. Dodd, or CWLP, of acting in contempt, and he is certainly not in a position to accuse my client of collaborating in that contempt.  That is over the line.


There is no evidence to suggest that my client knew, in any way, that the document was misfiled.  There was no evidence, in any way, to indicate that my client intended to mislead this Board.


So I think Mr. Thompson should be censored for having, on a public record in this debate, made those sorts of allegations without evidence, besmirching the reputation of certainly Mr. Dodd, CWLP, the people at EGD and the people at Accenture.  Just the opposite, I would say, is to be borne out by looking at the record in 2003.


We gave to the Board not only the unredacted program agreement, but the transactional documents in 2003, and we're prepared to go back to the same process that was determined to be - and he bought into, by the way - in 2003.  And now to hear today these kinds of hyperbolic adjectives used is really quite shocking.  It's over the mark.


MR. ROBINSON:  Madam Chair, on behalf of CWLP, I'm not going to repeat what my friends have said, but I totally agree.  I wasn't here when Mr. Dodd gave his testimony, but I am totally shocked to sit here and listen to accusations of contempt of court and what amounts to conspiracy.  I think those remarks should be withdrawn.  


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson, do you have a response?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  The conduct to which I was referring was the conduct of the attachment to the response to CCC 192 of a program agreement that was subsequently disclosed to not be any agreement whatsoever.  It was an unsigned document.  It had material omissions, and when Mr. Dodd ‑‑ sorry, when Mr. Shepherd disclosed to the company that it was not the correct document, there was no apology whatsoever from any of the parties to the attachment of that document, initially, initially.  There was -- subsequently, there was an agreement to produce the document that had been filed in the prior proceedings, and it was filed, I believe based on the copy that Mr. Shepherd had been retained.


Mr. Shepherd's subsequent examination of Mr. McGill on the contents of that document revealed the extensiveness of what had been deleted.  That prompted the Board ‑ none of the parties ‑ prompted the Board to require Mr. Dodd to attend to explain.


When Mr. Dodd attended to explain, his evidence, as I recall it - and it's in, I believe, volume 24 of the transcript - was to the effect that he didn't know, he claimed, what document had been filed with the Board, and so he went to Accenture.  He went to Accenture.


Now, Mr. Howe is here representing Accenture.  Accenture apparently didn't go through the exhaustive analysis that Mr. Howe took us through in the 0133 case.  Accenture sent Mr. Dodd a document.  July the 31st was its date, not the date of the program agreement ultimately executed, and Mr. Dodd, in turn, forwarded that to EGD, and EGD, in turn, attached it to CCC 192 and filed it not before the Motion Day dealing with unsatisfactory responses, but the document was ultimately filed, as I recall Mr. Millar advising us, sometime in mid July.


So that's the conduct to which I suggest the designation of "tantamount to contempt" applies.  The question came up when Mr. Dodd testified as to whether the Board wished to hear submissions on Mr. Dodd's testimony at that time, and that was deferred to final argument.


So I submit the characterization that I have ascribed to this conduct is perfectly appropriate.  CWLP, EGD and now Accenture have had an opportunity to explain it.  We've got nothing under oath from Accenture, and I submit this motion to set aside the directive that you made in response to the evidence with respect to that conduct is inappropriate and should be dismissed.


MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I'm sorry, if I may.


Mr. Thompson apparently has reiterated his allegation that this is contempt.  I reiterate my position, and the position of Enbridge Gas Distribution, that under the Statutory Powers Procedure Act, if he's going to make that allegation, there is a procedure to be followed.  There is procedural fairness, as confirmed in the Oakville decision, and he has not followed it.


Second, Madam, Chair, it's not for me to speak for CWLP, but Mr. Thompson just doesn't have his facts straight.  He said there was no apology.  My distinct recollection is that Ms. Sims apologized to the Board, on behalf of CWLP, before Mr. Dodd even got here.  Second, he said it was subsequently disclosed that this document was an unsigned version of the agreement.  It was apparent to everybody when it was produced it was an unsigned version of the agreement, Madam Chair.


 MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let me just respond to that.  In terms of the facts, when I said there was no apology, I said, at the time that Mr. Shepherd unmasked what had been filed, there was no apology.  That's evident from the correspondence from counsel for CWLP at that time.


The apology came from Ms. Sims, as I recall it, on Day 23 of the hearing.  That's the first time we ever had an apology, and that was because the Board ‑‑ I think Mr. Shepherd had raised the matter, and the apology was an attempt to prevent the Board from urging that Mr. Dodd attend and the Board, after receiving submissions from Mr. Shepherd - and I think we supported him - directed that Mr. Dodd attend.  


Mr. Dodd had every advance notice that he was entitled to under the process, in my respectful submission.  He had his day, and these are submissions based on what he said at the time.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson, I think your comments were a bit over the top.  The Board wants to note that if we were going to commence a proceeding or an allegation of contempt, we would have done so.


We have not done so and have no intention of doing so.  The apology was given to the Board on behalf of -- Ms. Sims gave that apology on behalf of her client, CWLP.  And I don't want to lose our focus here.  We're well into our way of discussing the motion and some alternatives to it and I would like to keep on point, if we can do that.
     Mr. Dingwall.
     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DINGWALL: 
     MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you, Madam Chairman.  I have to say I'm becoming quite adept at ducking sitting between Mr. Cass and Mr. Thompson.
     I have listened to the submissions of the parties that oppose the motion.  And I believe Mr. Shepherd, Mr. Warren and Mr. Thompson are correct in their suggestion of what the appropriate determination of the motion is.  I think both Mr. Shepherd and Mr. Warren have spoken succinctly and correctly that if there is to be a determination of confidentiality and relevance, that that needs to take place with the participation, the active participation of the parties to this matter having access to the documents that are purported to be either confidential or irrelevant.
     I don't believe, as Mr. Shepherd suggests, that what we're referring to has the potential to address any matters that relate to privacy.  I haven't seen the documents.  I may stand to be corrected in that regard, but I don't believe that anybody on the side of the intervenors is seeking the production of information that would fall under the restrictions of various privacy legislations that may be in place in respect of the portions.
     I have a few very specific and very brief submissions that I am going to make, in response to what some of the other counsel have raised.  There's been some discussion as to the difference between this hearing today and what went on in the 0133 case.  I believe Mr. Howe and Mr. Robinson made the point that they see no difference between what is being considered now versus what was being considered then.
     Mr. Shepherd responded, as did Mr. Thompson, with some significant detailing of some of the concerns that have come about from the evidence.  What also is different, quite different from this hearing versus the 0133 hearing, is the scope of the hearing.  In this particular hearing, we have issue 9.19, which is the consideration of the terms and conditions of third-party access to the Enbridge bill.  That is a significantly different circumstance than was in place in the 0133 hearing in which the only question related to the bill was with respect to the ratemaking aspects of it.  There was no consideration of third-party access at that time.
     Now, I can't reply to Mr. Hoaken's concerns as he's expressed them.  I can't, because I don't know what's in those documents.  I don't know whether there is a matter of business sensitivity.  I don't know whether there is discussion of things that are in such a broad context that there is no disclosure of business sensitivity.  But, what the Board did in the 0133 case, was to look at what the layers of confidentiality that can be put into place in order to protect individuals that might be affected would be.
     There was the first in camera proceeding, which Mr. Howe has made reference to, which discussed the actual production of the confidential information.  Later on that same day, there was a subsequent proceeding where a number of other parties, including my client, the HVAC Coalition and Mr. Hoaken's client, Direct Energy, sought access to the confidential information that was filed in that proceeding so that we all could take part in the further discussions and gain an understanding of what was going on.
     The Board at that time chose to respond to the suggestions of commercial sensitivity and confidentiality, which continued to be advanced in respect of the redacted version of the program agreement which was produced at that time, by limiting the confidentiality -- pardon me, by enforcing the confidentiality by a limitation of the access to those documents to counsel only for those parties.
     I submit that that is certainly a way of addressing any form of commercial sensitivity that might take place.  We heard from Mr. Cass briefly about an overriding concern about how far discussions relating to third party 

sub-contractors might go and in fact we had an undertaking yesterday, on the record, for EGD to enquire of Accenture as to what their actual sub-contractor costs were for some specific defined functions.  I don't presume we're going to get a response to that today or in the context of this motion, but in looking at what some of those third-party costs are, what strikes me is the fact that these are third parties and there's several layers down the road.
     Some have made reference to the peeling of the onion. I frankly think the analogy goes a bit further in that Enbridge can quite clearly be seen as the farmer growing the onion.  We have interposed affiliates.  We have relationships with parent companies.  We have numerous layers of detail.  I think it is appropriate, when the company is the constructor of those layers, that we keep in mind that where there are costs associated and charges associated that derive from parties who seem distant merely because of those layers, that the Board's overriding principles really should extend to not let contractual arrangements interfere with the cost-of-service regulation.
     My final point is with respect to the contention that there are non-affiliated parties involved in this matter.  The one specific company that I would like to make reference to is CWLP.  There's a section in the definitions of CWLP, in the program agreement and I'm not sure whether or not that definition itself is something that rings with confidentiality.  However, it does describe a formula whereby, under the contract, for the benefits and burdens associated with this contract, affiliates of CWLP are defined.  That definition is different than the definition that I'm presuming the moving parties are basing their determination of affiliate on, which would be the one for the Affiliate Relations Code for gas.  And I question just question whether it is appropriate for companies like Enbridge Inc. to have the ability to contractually gain the benefits and burdens of being an affiliate with a party that can then contend it is not an affiliate for regulatory purposes.
     Those are my submissions.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  

Mr. DeVellis.
     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DeVELLIS:  
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I won't repeat the arguments of my colleagues, but VECC agrees that the motion should be dismissed.
     I only add two brief points.  The first is that this undertaking question was given in response to a line of questioning from Mr. Dingwall.  I think it is clear, from the transcript, that Mr. Dingwall relied on that undertaking and, in effect, curtailed his 

cross-examination.  And the effect of that was that the Board was, in a way, deprived of further evidence on that point, and I don't think that parties should be able to give an undertaking in a proceeding, the effect of which is to curtail further examination, and then come back the next day and say, Well, we don't want to comply with that undertaking.
     My other point is this.  There's been some references to the privacy legislation.  I would just like to read from the B.C. Privacy Act, if I may.  Section 2(2), says that:

“An act or conduct is not a violation of privacy

if any of the following applies:

(c) The act or conduct was authorized or

acquired by or under a law enforced in British Columbia, by a court or by any process of a court.”

     And “court” is defined in that section as:

“Including a person authorized by law to

administer an oath for taking evidence when

acting for the purpose for which the person is

authorized to take evidence.”


Now, VECC agrees that the personal privacy of individuals should be protected, to the greatest extent possible.  However, in the event that it's unavoidable in this case, the Board should keep in mind that the B.C. legislature itself left it for the tribunal to determine whether or not certain information should be disclosed, and, in my view, there is a very good reason for that, and that is that the B.C. legislation did not want to interfere with the right or jurisdiction of the tribunal to determine what information is relevant for the proceeding for which it's constituted.


Those are our submissions.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.  I don't want to get into another round of submissions, so I'm going to ask only Mr. Howe to reply.


However, there was one particular question which Mr. Shepherd raised, and he referred the question to Ms. Fung, so I will let her address that, and that is whether or not she was aware that we were only talking about the items in the record book of index, which replies to the customer care program agreement.


MR. ADAMS:  Madam Chair, I wonder if I can make one brief submission before you turn to Mr. Howe, and I promise it will be a very brief one.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Adams, I assumed that you were not going to make a submission, but go ahead.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. ADAMS:


MR. ADAMS:  I was trying to avoid making comments, but I have only one that I do wish to add to the record of those opposing the motion, and that is to observe that in their rounds of arguments, I heard from none of the supporters of the motion or the mover of the motion that they had any complaint against the procedures of the Board with respect to the confidentiality provisions that apply in this case.


Mr. Warren, in his submissions, made a comment to the effect that the Board might also rely on the rules of the Law Society.  I don't think it is necessary for the Board to go there beyond its own rules.  I think its own rules are satisfactory.  I myself, I believe I'm the only one that is a signatory to the confidentiality rules applying in this particular case.  I'm not a member of the Law Society, but I think the Board should have no concern with respect to deficiencies within its rules or compliance with those rules.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Adams.  

Ms. Fung.


MS. FUNG:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  With respect to the privacy issues ‑‑ I'm sorry, I don't know who spoke last, the gentleman ‑‑ not this one, the one before.


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Fung, I wanted to limit your response to just the question about whether or not you were aware that we were talking about the principal agreement, customer care program agreement, and then we will allow Mr. Howe to do reply.


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. FUNG:


MS. FUNG:  Okay.  With respect to the program agreement itself, I would point out in respect of the following schedules that deal with employees and employee information, which I would submit are not and ought not to be disclosed for privacy reasons.  And the schedules are, namely, schedule 3.01(g) -- I'm sorry, 3.01(ee), which deals with employees, and, in particular, if you turn to 3.01(ee) of the program agreement, it spells out what that schedules sets out, and that's the name of all the employees of the business, their job title, their current work location and most recent dates of hire and total length of employment, including any prior employment as disclosed in CustomerWorks' records; whether the employees are represented by a trade union; whether the employees are represented by a trade union; the name of the marketing agent; effective day of transfer from the predecessor employer to CustomerWorks; whether any such employees on any approved or statutory leave of absence, and, if so, the type of leave and expected date of return, if known; the annual vacation entitlement expressed in numbers of weeks; other terms and conditions of employment of employees not represented by a trade union, et cetera.


Then there is a confidential letter which sets out the various salaries of these employees.


Now, going on further, schedule 3.01(uu) talks about the benefit plans that CustomerWorks have undertaken to provide to all of these employees and that, I would submit, is not disclosable for privacy reasons.  3.01(vv) sets out the various compensation policies, written and unwritten, of CustomerWorks that would pertain to those employees.


Just to answer, I think, the gentleman quoting from the privacy legislation of British Columbia.  First of all, I wonder whether he does have the correct legislation, because in British Columbia we actually have two pieces of privacy legislation.  One is the Privacy Act and, secondly, the Personal Information Protection Act.  And he indicated that, you know, personal information should be disclosed where it is unavoidable.


It's my submission in this case that it is totally avoidable because ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Fung, we didn't ask you to make reply on this.  You will have an opportunity when we move to the larger question, depending on how we decide on the motion.


MS. FUNG:  My apologies.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Howe, would you like to make reply?


REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. HOWE:


MR. HOWE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Beginning first with my response to Mr. Warren, as I understand Mr. Warren's argument, is what makes this year different from 2003 was that a different version of the redacted program agreement was filed in this case.  And with all due respect to my friend, I think that is a red herring.


We do know that CWLP eventually got it right and the 2003 redacted program agreement was filed with an apology.  In my view, the mistake does not justify a difference in process.


Mr. Warren's second point is, Well, everybody is going to sign a confidentiality agreement and, therefore, let's not worry about it, to which I have two responses ‑‑ actually, three responses.  The first response is, from a common sense point of view, every set of eyes that looks at confidential documents, especially irrelevant confidential documents, weakens the confidentiality of the information contained therein.


The second point is, there are competitors of some of the parties in this room, so that counsel for the competitors will have access to the information, even on a confidential basis.


The third point I would make is, we already know that at least one counsel in the room feels he is not bound by all of the covenants contained in the 2003 confidential undertaking that he signed.


Now, I'm not going to castigate counsel or get into an argument as to whether or not that position is valid, but we do know, now, that at least one lawyer in the room feels he is not bound by all of the covenants he gave in the year 2003 by which he received the redacted 2003 program agreement.  That exacerbates the concern of my client.


MS. NOWINA:  In fairness, Mr. Howe, that person is not in the room -- is in the room, and I think you need to repeat your comments in his presence.


MR. HOWE:  Yes, ma'am.  I was responding to Mr. Warren's comments, and my third point was that there is at least one counsel in the room who feels he is not bound by all of the covenants that were contained in the confidentiality undertaking and agreement that was given in 2003.  And my point, without naming the counsel or seeking to castigate the counsel, is -- and without commenting whether or not his position is correct, in my view when a lawyer takes that position, regardless of who he is, that weakens the credibility of the confidential information that is ‑‑ that has been provided, in this case in the year 2003.


 MR. SHEPHERD:  Madame Chair, that's a matter of privilege ‑‑ a matter of personal privilege, and I think the normal rules are that it is appropriate for me to respond to that at this time.


MR. DINGWALL:  I think I might be in the same boat, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Dingwall, I didn't realize that.  Go ahead, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, two things -- three things.  First of all, we have said on the record that we will be bound by those confidentiality undertakings and with no reservations whatsoever, and that if we wish to be relieved from those confidentiality undertakings, we will make an application to the Board for such relief.  In fact, as everybody in the room knows, we are making such an application and it will be heard by the Board in the next couple of weeks.  But we will only be relieved of any component of those undertakings if the Board so determines.
     Secondly -- it is actually two points.  Secondly, I'm not sure what Mr. Howe's -- what the end point of Mr. Howe's point is.  Is it that, therefore, the Board shouldn't have confidential documents because you can't trust counsel?  So let's throw the Board's confidentiality rules out the window?
     I mean, maybe that's what he's saying.  Or maybe he's saying that there is different levels of confidentiality, that he wants the Board to construct a regular confidentiality, which all of these untrustworthy counsel can be shown and then real confidentiality, double confidentiality, which you can't show to everybody because you can't trust them?
     I think if Mr. Howe is arguing that, in some way, confidentiality undertakings cannot be relied on, then he has to tell the Board what is the remedy, what is the result that he thinks the Board should go for, should reach as a result of that fact.  And I have no other submissions on that.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you. 

Mr. Dingwall.

MR. DINGWALL:  My submission, Madam Chairman, is based on Mr. Howe's contention that by counsel to a competitor of a party to the CWLP agreement having access to confidential information, that that somehow waters down that confidentiality.  Frankly, I think that is an offensive statement.  It suggests that counsel will not abide by the confidentiality and that the rules of the Law Society, professional sanction, mean nothing.
     I certainly hope Mr. Howe is not making reference to any allegation coming out of my having had access to confidential information on behalf of my client in the 2003 proceeding.  I don't think it is appropriate for Mr. Howe to make suggestions that counsel will not abide by the professional rules of practice and the rules of the Board.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  

Mr. Howe, please proceed.

MR. HOWE:  Let me respond to Mr. Shepherd first.  The irony, of course, is his seeking relief is exactly the point that I was making.  In 2003, Mr. Shepherd and others, after a deal has been struck, after the Board has blessed the deal, and after he and others sign a confidentiality agreement and documents are provided, then comes along later and says:  I seek to be relieved of the undertaking that I gave in 2003 by which I obtained confidential information.  Frankly, I find that to be a surprising proposition.  That underscores my point, and that is: if counsel can come in and execute a confidentiality agreement and obtain information and then, after the fact, seek to resile from the covenants that they've made, it means that there is no confidentiality.  That's the point.
     He waters down the value of the document that he signs and obtains information by thereafter seeking to resile from it.  And at the end of the day, if Mr. Shepherd does that successfully, then the whole confidentiality process, I say, has been prejudiced.  Why would anybody trust undertakings being given if they sought retroactively to be relieved of them?  It doesn't make sense.
     So that just exacerbates the concern that I articulated in first instance.
     Dealing with Mr. Dingwall's point, I wasn't making any allegation against Mr. Dingwall.  I want to make that absolutely clear, and I have no reason to believe that he has not abided by the undertaking that was signed in 2003.  My point is that another professional obligation is a lawyer has to share information with a client in order to obtain the client's instructions.  In other words, it puts the lawyer, very often, in a competing or conflicting position, which the lawyer has to work through as best he or she can.  But I am certainly not suggesting that Mr. Dingwall has done anything wrong.
     The point is, is that he acts for a competitor of parties in the room.  And the more eyes that see confidential information, the more the confidential information is watered down.  That's the point.  But I certainly have not thought that Mr. Dingwall has done anything inappropriately and I don't want anyone to believe that I am making castigations against him and frankly I'm not making castigations against Mr. Shepherd, I'm just following the logic of Mr. Shepherd's position, that's all.  
     Now, dealing with -- I will go back to where I was in responses.  Mr. Shepherd says that this is different from 2003 because 2003, we were dealing with transactional documents, now we're dealing with a program agreement.  One of the reasons I went through the transcript in 2003 somewhat laboriously is to demonstrate that that was the first item of discussion in 2003.
     Mr. Shepherd's second point is:  You can't decide confidentiality until you determine relevance.  I agree entirely.  That's why we did it in 2003.  That's the way we did it.  We gave to the Board the document; said to the Board, you determine relevance first, confidentiality next, and accessibility third.
     Now, Mr. Shepherd says what is different now is a different set of information that CIS wasn't a big deal in 2003, and it's a bigger deal today.  To which I say, I have no involvement in terms of the merits of the case in 2003 or in the merits of the case today.  But what I can tell you is if the process in 2003 had merit, then the process has merit in 2005.  Nothing has changed about the process.
     Mr. Shepherd's last point is, the court motions show the extent of the resistance.  To which I say, No, it doesn't.  It shows that the parties were prepared to drop the litigation as part of a package deal that was accepted in 2003.
     Now, dealing with Mr. Thompson's arguments again, I'm not going to deal with his castigation of CWLP or his attempt to smear my client or EGD.  You've already heard me in that regard.
     His second point is that CWLP is a quasi-affiliate, to which I say, that may or may not be the case, but one thing is clear, my client, Accenture is a third-party service provider.  It's not an affiliate.  It's removed from this process and, as Mr. Cass has noted in his submissions, should not be dragged into this process to defend its confidential business information.
     Mr. Thompson's last point was that, what has changed is EGD's resistance to produce, and that makes things different and therefore we need the information.  

Just picking up on Ms. Fung's point, and that is, you can't punish Accenture.  Whether or not you buy into Mr. Thompson's hyperbole about the need to punish EGD, the bottom line is, you shouldn't punish third-party service providers and the customers of those third parties.

Now, I thought it was somewhat ironic that Mr. Thompson talked about his cross‑examination dealing with CCC 192, and he was saying he was trying to avoid the disclosure problem so as not to replay 2003.  In other words, Mr. Thompson, presumably recognized the merits of the deal that was done in 2003.  He participated in that - that's apparent on the transcript - and didn't want to get into replaying it.


Unfortunately, we've had to replay it because of the undertaking, but if his submission is correct, and that is he was trying not to replay 2003, then there are merits to the deal that was done in 2003.


His next point is that my client knew that Mr. Dodd was appearing.  Frankly, I conceded that to begin with, because - I think it was either Mr. Shepherd or Mr. Thompson, one of the letters said - you know, presumably Accenture knew that Dodd was appearing.  My point is we knew that Dodd had been asked to explain the differences in the redacted 2003 program agreement.  No one expected ‑ certainly my client didn't expect - that during that discussion the Board would have, through its -- in my view, its own direction, asked for the unredacted version of the program agreement.


Indeed, reading from the transcript, it sounds like Mr. Dingwall was surprised when the Board ordered the unredacted version to be produced.


So although I'm prepared to agree that we have to take the record, there was certainly nothing on the record to that point in time that indicated that the unredacted program agreement was required to be filed.


Mr. DeVellis makes the point that people who give undertakings shouldn't have their fingers crossed and seek to resile from them the next day.  I have two comments.  First of all, the transcript reads that no undertaking was requested of Mr. Dodd.  Having practiced in front of this Board for many years, normally the process, as I recall, was an intervenor or the Board asks for an undertaking to be given, and the person in the box or the counsel for the person in the box provides the undertaking, saying, Yes, we're prepared to produce that.


Mr. Dodd was not asked whether or not he would produce it, as I read the transcript, nor was his counsel asked, Will you produce it?  The Board, in my view, directed the production of the document.  So this isn't a question of somebody agreeing to do something one day, and then the next day saying, I didn't agree.  


But my second point is it's rather ironic, because there are a lot of parties in the room who did buy into the process in 2003 and now seek to resile from the process that was agreed to and blessed and ordered by the Board in 2003.


Madam Chair, Members of the Panel, subject to any questions that you have, that completes my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Howe.


[The Board confers]


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just one moment, Mr. Howe.  You made the observation that the confidentiality of documents dilutes with the number of eyes that see the documents.  I'm suggesting to you that the opposite is true, that where there is no evidence of disclosure, and if you have any evidence arising from the 2003 case there were leakages or there is some reason to doubt the maintenance of the undertaking that counsel made when they agreed to protect the confidentiality of the material ‑‑ that in the absence of evidence of that nature, surely we are entitled to have confidence that the confidentiality is being maintained and that our process here at the Board is highly dependent on confidence that the confidentiality that parties undertake to maintain is, in fact, maintained, and that that allows us to go forward in many different instances with many different kinds of documents of varying degrees of sensitivity.


Is that not true?


MR. HOWE:  Sir, I have three comments to make, and I'm just going to try to find my notes.


Dealing with the leakage issue ‑‑ and I don't have the specific reference, but I do recall Janet Holder, who represents, or who is an employee of EGD, having testified in a rate case about her having been contacted by Cap Gemini shortly after her having testified.  Cap Gemini is a competitor of Accenture.  


I have a note to that effect, sir.  If I had a transcript reference, I would provide it to you, but it's a vague recollection and a note that I made in my file, and my client had a recollection of it, as well, but that's the best I can do as to whether or not there is leakage.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I guess the only comment I have to that is that there is remedy that exists if that circumstance presses itself on you.  We can't, surely, govern our process according to anything that isn't notorious and sort of obviously actionable; isn't that right?


MR. HOWE:  Well, sir, I think, to respond to that last point, let's say in a week or two weeks from now Mr. Shepherd brings his motion and is successful, and he is joined by others seeking to be relieved of the covenants that they gave.  


If he is successful in that, then the documents, which previously had been characterized as confidential and provided in confidence, go on to the public record.  In other words, there is a view by at least one lawyer, and maybe more, that the confidentiality undertaking can be amended, revised, disregarded after the fact if they seek the Board's blessing.


Now, my understanding is that Mr. Shepherd didn't hold that view to begin with, but I take him at his word now that he will ask the Board to be relieved of those covenants or a covenant as part of the undertaking.  If that's so, then, Mr. Sommerville, the process that you're talking about virtually comes apart at the seams, because if he or others are successful, then on a retroactive basis my client's information can be made available to the world, really.  


So that's a second concern that I have in response to your question, sir.


The third response is even after the Board ordered the redacted 2003 program agreement to be produced, it still required intervenors to make a motion for access to the document.  In other words, the Board was very strict.  It wasn't just signing an agreement or giving an undertaking.    You had to establish a need to know.  There had to be some nexus between the information that you sought and your requirement for purposes of the rate case, a very stringent exercise.  Because you will see in the transcript from 2003 -- and I didn't get into this -- but after the Board make its order, we spend the balance of the day debating who should and who should not get access.  So a party was then required to seek access for the following reasons, and justify their need to know.
     Now, I don't hear Mr. Shepherd or Mr. Warren or anybody else saying that that should be -- which was again part of the deal in 2003 -- that that should be part of the deal now, which causes us concern.  That means anybody can sign a confidentiality agreement and get a lot of confidential information and maybe two years from now say, I don't think I'm going to be bound and I want to make a motion to the Board. 
     So those are three submissions that I have, Mr. Sommerville, to your comment, sir.  I hope I've responded to it.
     [The Board confers]
     MR. HOWE:  Just to underscore something, and this may be the fourth point, sir, in response to your question.  Although we have been somewhat loose in our characterization of the program agreement as being irrelevant, in part, or confidential in part, let's not forget that there is a difference that the program agreement contains a lot of information that is irrelevant, that no one should get, even if they sign a confidentiality agreement.  And that is different -- that was eliminated by the Board in 2003.  They extracted the irrelevant documents.  In other words the pension benefits, the salaries, the non-EGD components of the program agreement.  That was all redacted.
     Then, what was left was the confidential economic core of the deal that was debated and provided after someone could justify that they needed to know that information.
     So, with respect, I think that's very different from the proposition that I hear from some of my friends in the room.
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Howe, to go back to Mr. Sommerville's point, however.  Regarding the difficulty the Board would have over confidentiality agreements - that confidentiality between parties was not respected - it would significantly tie our hands if we could not trust in that process.
     You mentioned the motion that may be brought by Mr. Shepherd.  I would be very surprised if it asked to put confidential documents on the public record.  And I would hope that you could count on the wisdom of the Board in a motion like that to make the right decision.  Motions such as that are always available to parties.  Nothing has changed.  Nothing is new.  That has always been available to parties to make those kinds of motions.
     So to suggest that the confidential documents cannot be submitted because the Board and parties cannot trust in the confidentiality of parties is very concerning.
     MR. HOWE:  Well, Madam Chair, it is of concern to my client, but ironically that's the reason why, in 2003, we trusted in the wisdom of the Board.  We said, forget about the squabbling and the court motions and the summonses, here are all of the transactional documents.  You have all of the documents, two volumes of them.  And we trust in the Board, because at the end of the day the Board has to make a decision as to what constitutes fair and reasonable rates.  And it needs to know the information and only it is in the best position to make the determination as to what's relevant in those documents for purposes of making its decision.
     So that's exactly what we did in 2003.  We said, okay, let's cut through all of the motions and everything else.  We're going to trust in the good judgment of the Board after we've provided the documents, to make up its mind.  And all I'm doing today is exactly the same thing, Madam Chair.  I'm saying, we trust in the good judgment of the Board.  We've provided the document in good faith to the Board.  And we're asking the Board to look at the document, and I'm submitting the Board will come to the conclusion that the information that was ordered to be produced in 2003 is what is relevant for purposes of this hearing.  Then if the Board so decides, then the parties should be asked to obtain status to obtain those -- to be granted status to obtain those documents.
     So I agree with you entirely, Madam Chair.  We're trusting in the wisdom of the Board.
     Those are my submissions, ma'am.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  We will take a moment.
     [The Board confers]


MS. NOWINA:  We are going to retire for 10 minutes and come back and give you our decision at 25 past 12.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 12:15 p.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 12:25 p.m.

DECISION - MOTION ON CONFIDENTIALITY RE PROGRAM AGREEMENT:


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  We have our decision for you.  I will read it, and if I have to go back over it twice, it's because some of the writing is Mr. Sommerville's and I struggle with that.


Mr. Howe relied heavily on the process adopted in RP‑2002‑0133 and urged us to follow it.  That process would have the Board, unaided by submissions from any parties other than CWLP and Accenture, make determinations as to the relevance of elements to the program agreement.


For the reasons below, the Board will take a different approach.  First, the Board considers that provided there are reasonable safeguards, natural justice requires the determination of relevance in situations such as these be made with the input of interested parties.


The Board finds that it is important that it has before it a definitive version of the program agreement.  The irregularities which attended the filing of the incomplete and redacted version of the agreement make it necessary for the Board to have confidence that its starting point be a complete and unredacted version of the agreement.  


The Board has no interest in considering aspects of the agreement that are not relevant to the issues in this case.  The Board will provide an opportunity for the parties to convene together to arrive at some consensus on the relevancy.  It is important, though, for the parties to appreciate that the Board does consider the terms and conditions under which CWLP provides customer care services to others to be relevant.


The Board also notes that there is no suggestion that these confidential materials would be handled in any manner other than consistent with the undertakings made by counsel in this case.  There is no reasonable risk of public disclosure.


The motion by Accenture to set aside the undertaking directive is denied.  The motion by Accenture to vary the undertaking directive is granted, in part.  The Board confirms that the complete and unredacted version of the program agreement shall be made available to counsel for intervenors who have executed the confidentiality agreement.


The Board directs the parties to retire to review the full document and to identify ‑‑ and to report back to the Board, rather.


Mr. Millar, Board counsel, will join you.  You will report back to the Board to identify three categories of sections of the document:  Those that parties have agreed should be included in the confidential document to be filed with the Board; those that parties have agreed should be redacted; and those that are in dispute.  


Parties may make submissions on the disputed items when the Board reconvenes at 2:30 p.m.  The Board will make such further directions as are needed at that time.  The resulting redacted version shall be filed in confidence with the Board and given a confidential exhibit number.


The unredacted versions shall be returned to Mr. Howe, with the exception that the Board shall retain, in confidence, both the redacted and the unredacted versions.


The only question in point Mr. Howe is for you.  We have said our order is that counsel for intervenors meet with you to do this.  Energy Probe is not represented by counsel; they're represented by Mr. Adams, who is not an attorney.  So, Mr. Howe, at your discretion, you may or may not include Mr. Adams in this meeting.


I note that Energy Probe is not a competitor of any of the parties in question.


MR. HOWE:  Madam Chairman, I have known Mr. Adams for many years, and he is a man of integrity, and I have no concerns in that regard.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  We appreciate that.


[The Board confers]


MS. NOWINA:  You may have a shortage of copies of the documents, and you certainly can use the three that you provided to the Board for you to have this discussion.


We will reconvene at 2:30.  We look forward to the consensus that you will reach.


MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, if I might just advise the Board I have a number of conflicting obligations this afternoon.  As the Board may be aware, we have, among intervenors, struck informal arrangements, and with respect to the content of the program agreement and the financial issues related to customer care broadly, Messrs. Thompson and Shepherd have taken the lead on my behalf on that matter.  


With the Board's permission, I am going to excuse myself and I will leave it to them to make the decisions.  They have my brief on this matter.  So if I'm not present at 2:30, it doesn't mean that these issues are not important.  It's just that I'm trusting older and much wiser parties, counsel, to take my part.


MS. NOWINA:  We understand, Mr. Warren.  Thank you.  Any other submissions? ^^^END 4S^^^


‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 12:45 p.m.

     --- On resuming at 2:40 p.m.
     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.
     Mr. Howe, are you going to report to us?

PROCEDURAL MATTERS:
     MR. HOWE:  Yes, I will, Madam Chairman -- Madam Chair.
     Mr. Thompson and I have met, and he and I have gone through the index.  He was, or is the spokesperson for the intervenor group looking for the information.
     I've made notes of what he and my friends want.  Candidly, I have not had a chance to talk to Ms. Fung and Mr. Robinson about the shopping list.
     Mr. Thompson -- and I haven't had a chance to get instructions, frankly, on the shopping list, I was trying to get those instructions.  Unfortunately a lot of people are at lunch and/or out of town.  I know my friends, Mr. Robinson and Ms. Fung have been unable to get instructions as to what they can consent to, in terms of a disclosure.  So we are -- well, we're limited in our ability to respond to Mr. Thompson's shopping list.  But he has suggested that he put it on the record so that everybody could hear it at one time.  I've indicated to him that I have no objection to that.  So that my client and others who will be affected by this list will have an opportunity to see it and then make a decision as to what we can consent to and what we can't consent to.  
     MS. NOWINA:  Let's hear from Mr. Thompson.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  Let me report that the intervenors met after we adjourned, and we did go through the document, which we received for the first time, and we used the index, the record book index, as our guide to identifying the documents that we believe should remain on the -- in the filing in confidence before the Board.
     I reported that to Mr. Howe.  We were available to report it about 1:40 and I think I transmitted it to him about 1:45.  So we did what we were asked to do in the time available.
     In terms of the principles that the intervenors applied, I just wanted to draw your attention, if I could, to a passage in Exhibit K(X)28.1, which was filed this morning.  This was the transcript that Mr. Howe was referring to.  I don't think you need to turn this up, but you will find at paragraphs 316 to 328, submissions I then made about relevancy, and basically indicated that, in my view, this is on behalf of IGUA, we should be exercising caution before removing any information from these documents, and that what is necessary to have a complete understanding of this deal should remain filed, but in confidence.
     So that is, at a high level, the kind of test that intervenors applied to the index.  And so then let me just run quickly through the index to indicate to you what intervenors believe should remain filed and what intervenors accept can be excluded from the document.
     What I'm referring to in the Project Moose record book index are the items, Roman numerals I to XXVIII, section 1, subparagraph B.  The first item is schedule 1.01(a), and that's the base plan.  What you have in the unredacted document I believe is about 23 pages of material whereas in the redacted filing there is about 19 pages of material.  And in the redacted filing, there are a number of line items that have been blacked-out pertaining to entities other than EGD.  It's in the context of your ruling that amounts paid by customers, other than EGD and charges to customers other than EGD, are relevant.  The intervenors say the whole of item 1.01(a), unredacted, should remain on the record in the confidential filing.
     So what has been eliminated should not be eliminated.
     Item 2 -- don't hesitate to interrupt me if you have questions about these items.  Item 2, the general security agreement is in the redacted filing at tab 3.  So it should remain.
     Items 3 to 10 of the index relate to a number of schedules in the unredacted filing, that in the intervenors' view are relevant to an understanding of the entire agreement and how it works, and they're also relevant to a number of topics that have been discussed on the record in these proceedings.  I won't run through them in any detail, but the topics are:  Governance processes and procedures, that's item Roman numeral III; Roman numeral number IV, licensed intellectual property; Roman numeral V, licensed software; item 6, operations integration project and scope document; item 7, owned intellectual property; 8, owned software; item 9, written base contract - it's a list of clients that have base contracts.  That stays in; 10, unwritten base contracts - the same thing, a list of particular clients of CWLP.  So all of that, in the view of intervenors, should remain on the record in the confidential filing.
     MS. NOWINA:  Are they in the redacted version in any form?
     MR. THOMPSON:  None of those are in the redacted version, Madam Chair.  So in the redacted version you move from the general security agreement, Roman numeral II, to the next item, item 11, schedule 2.04, billing and payment.  So that document is in the redacted filing and should remain in.
     Items 12 and 13 are not in the redacted filing, and they relate to the financials.  They should remain in the unredacted filing on the confidential record.  They are links to the financial information that has already been filed confidentially with respect to CWLP.
     Item Roman numeral XIV, relates to indebtedness, and the intervenors agree that that can be excluded from the unredacted filing.  It is not in the redacted filing.
     Item XV, permitted encumbrances, we view this as having some relevance to the CIS issue, and I've stated that it should remain in the filing on the confidential record.
     Similarly, XVI, operating agreements should remain in.
     Item number XVII, scope changes, that is in the redacted filing at tab 10, but there have been some redactions from it, and it's the intervenors' position that the entire schedule, unredacted, should be on the confidential record.
     Next is item XVIII, leased premises.  Intervenors are of the view this should remain in the confidential filing before you.  It is not in the redacted version.


Item XVIX, dedicated software agreements, intervenors agree that this item can be removed, need not be part of the confidential filing.


The next three items, XX, XXI, and XXII, relate to employees.  And subject to this one caveat, intervenors accept that these schedules need not be included in the confidential filing.  The caveat is this:  With respect to item XX, employees, there is a heading sheet for the employee documents.  You will find this in the material that's been produced.  I hope I can find this quickly.


It follows right after the dedicated software topic, so it is about an inch from the back, and there's a heading: Schedule 3.01(ee) Employees.  Then if you turn over the page, it starts at page number 2, and it appears that a page -- it appears to the intervenors that a page is missing.


So our caveat was, subject to seeing what that page had to say, we agreed that everything that we saw with respect to those three topic items pertaining to employees ‑ and my guess is probably that page, if there is one missing ‑ should remain out of the confidential filing.


Number XXIII relates to benefit plans.  Intervenors say this schedule should remain in the confidential filing.  It does give some insights into the nature of the relationships between these employees who came from BC Gas and Enbridge, and the partners in the CWLP.  The documents suggest that EI and Terasen continue to provide pension benefits for the employees.  So it goes to the nature of the relationship between Accenture and the CWLP partners, we believe.


The compensation policies, these are statements of policies applicable to formerly CWLP employees.  Again, we say they should stay in.  It does provide context of the nature of the relationship between the partners in CWLP and these employees.


XXV, action suits and proceedings --


MR. HOWE:  Sorry, just to interrupt my friend, getting back to number XXIV, I had a note that the intervenors had determined that the compensation policies were not relevant and that there would be no need to file those in confidence.  I just want to make sure that ‑‑


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let me just make sure I've got this straight.  Sorry, I think you're right, Mr. Howe.  I had, on my score card initially, in, and then I wrote "out", so subject to hearing from my constituency, I think we're okay with XXIV out.  If I don't hear any objections to that, then I misspoke myself and I apologize.  So XXIV is okay.  XXIV is out.


XXV, action suits and proceedings, there are a number of items that are mentioned in this schedule, and intervenors are ‑‑ one of which refers to OEB, and it's the last item on the schedule.  Intervenors are content to have everything, except the item referring to OEB, extracted from the confidential filing.


Next one is insurance policies, item XXVI.  We are of the view that that should stay in.  Again, it ties in with the relationship with Enbridge Inc. and Terasen, the partners, and CWLP.


XXVII is an employee services agreement that covers a few employees, and the intervenors believe that this should remain in, subject to removing the name of the employees in paragraph 1.1 of this document.  It's context for the big picture, in our view.


Then, finally, XXVIII, scope statement.  Intervenors say that stays in.  It relates to CIS, and our belief is that there's already been an undertaking given with respect to that particular schedule.  


So that was the shopping list that I provided to Mr. Howe at about quarter to 2:00.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.


So, Mr. Howe, is it fair to say everywhere that the intervenors said the schedule could be excluded from the documents they need, that you have no issue with that?


MR. HOWE:  That's right, ma'am.


MS. NOWINA:  And that all of the other items, unless they are already in what we call Exhibit X6.1, are, at the moment, still in dispute until you've had a chance to check with your client?


MR. HOWE:  That's right, ma'am.


MS. NOWINA:  So do you have a proposal as to how we should proceed?


MR. HOWE:  Well, speaking first for myself, my client is located in Toronto, and what I would request is an adjournment until tomorrow in order to meet, talk about the documents and see what we can agree upon, in terms of the Board's direction.  So that's ‑‑ that would be my request, that I be given the benefit of ‑‑ I understand that the Board is sitting tomorrow, so I would be given the benefit of 22 hours within which to obtain instructions on this shopping list.


MS. NOWINA:  Do any of the other parties have any submissions on that?  Mr. Robinson?


MR. ROBINSON:  My client is in Vancouver, and I tried to get instructions today.  I couldn't get them.  I will try this afternoon again, and that's all I can say.


The individual who I am reporting to, in fact, I am told is out of town, so I'm going to have a bit of a job in tracking him down.


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Fung?


MS. FUNG:  Madam Chair, my client is in Vancouver, and I have spoken to them briefly this afternoon just to fill them in, in terms of what was happening here.


They would like an opportunity to think about this and consider the shopping list and see what ramifications it may have for not only Terasen Inc., but Terasen Gas Inc.  So we are also in agreement with Mr. Howe that we would like to request an adjournment, at least until tomorrow.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I haven't had a chance to talk to Mr. Howe about this, unfortunately, because I was in the other room.


But, frankly, our view is this is Mr. Howe's motion.  He came here asking for an order from the Board.  The Board has given him an order.  He should have been prepared to deal with it when he came in the door.  He should have had access to somebody to give him instructions, and just as the intervenors in 45 minutes managed to go through a document they had never seen before, and assess what they needed and what they didn't need and cut some stuff out, I think Mr. Howe and the other parties seeking to limit the Board's access to these documents should be asked to deal with it now, as the Board told them to.  


Those are our submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Any other comments?


MR. THOMPSON:  Madam Chair, I don't have a problem with an adjournment until tomorrow, speaking on behalf of IGUA.

     I've indicated that to Mr. Howe.  An adjournment any longer, in my respectful submission, would be inappropriate and I agree with Mr. Shepherd, you don't come to a hearing of a motion, where you're seeking relief, assuming that you're going to win.
     So the options, as I see it, really are for the Board to determine whether any adjournment is appropriate and make a directive in the context of what intervenors are prepared to accept.  Or, if you're trying to forge a consensus with respect to these schedules and you want to allow that matter to run its course, I submit it's probably reasonable to give the parties that are on the receiving end of this order until tomorrow to report back.  But my submission is we have to have this sorted out sooner rather than later in view of where we are in the context of the evidence in this case, and Mr. McGill, in particular, at some point is going to disappear from the witness stand.  Maybe not in the foreseeable future, but at some point.
     MS. NOWINA:  I think we may simply wear him down so he disappears.  

Any other submissions?

MR. DINGWALL:  Very briefly, Madam Chair.  I support the views of my friends, Mr. Shepherd and Mr. Thompson, with regard to the adjournment and with regard for the need to find a conclusion on this matter.  
     MS. NOWINA:  Just give us a moment.
     [The Board confers]
     MS. NOWINA:  We will grant the request to adjourn until tomorrow afternoon at 1 o'clock to deal with the matter, with a couple of comments.
     First, we expect the parties to be able to articulate their divergence from the list given by the intervenors, and secondly, to make submissions on why we should not ask for the document as indicated by the intervenors.
     We will make a decision tomorrow and we will order the redaction of the document tomorrow.
     We want the document in the Board's hands tomorrow.  So we want to make that very clear.
     The other thing I want to comment on is that Mr. Robinson, you suggested you might not be able to get hold of counsel or get hold of your client.  We suggest that that is totally inappropriate.  CWLP is very aware of what's going on in this proceeding and of today's motion, and I assume that someone will be made available to you.
     Then the last point is we want to thank the intervenors for their diligent work on this for getting us this far.  We really appreciate it and hopefully we will be able to conclude the matter tomorrow.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Madam Chair, just one point.  The intervenors are assuming we can keep what we've been provided with until -- at least until tomorrow.  It's important to me, in particular because Mr. DeRose is going to be here tomorrow and I'll have to brief him on where we are at the moment.  We're proceeding on the assumption that that is acceptable to the Board, that we keep a copy of the unredacted version that has been produced, subject to the terms of the confidentiality agreement.
     MS. NOWINA:  Any submissions on that?

MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, just an associated matter.  There are not enough copies of the document for parties present.  So to the extent that there should be enough copies present, we would ask that we would be permitted to either make copies, or that the applicant here -- sorry, that ABSU make those copies.
     MS. NOWINA:  If you will give us just a moment.
     [The Board confers]
     MS. NOWINA:  We would have preferred to have kept control of the documents, but given that it is at Mr. Howe's request we're doing the adjournment, and recognizing that means intervenors will probably have to work overnight to prepare for their submissions, we don't see a practical way to do that.  So, therefore, yes, you may keep the documents.
     In terms of additional copies, Mr. Howe or -- could you or could EGD, on your behalf, after this proceeding, make copies for the others who want them, so the making of copies does not get outside of your control?
     MR. HOWE:  Madam Chair, in order to accommodate my friends, and without consenting to their having a copy, because our position continues to be they're not entitled to have copies, but I hear what the Board has to say, but just as a professional courtesy, I certainly can make copies available to my friends.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, we would appreciate that.
     Are there any more -- are there any other matters that we need to deal with this afternoon?
     Is your panel here for third-party access, Mr. Cass?
     MR. CASS:  Yes, they are Madam Chair.  They have been here all day, yes.
     MS. NOWINA:  My apologies to them.  I believe that we have Ms. DeMarco left on that matter, but I also believe that you said that your cross-examination was going to take a couple of hours.  Is that right, Ms. DeMarco?
     MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, if I could be cordial with the Board.  This has been hanging over my head, so to speak since Friday, so to the extent that we can get this over with today, I would be more than happy to try and squish it in to the remaining allotted time for the day.
     MS. NOWINA:  We do have to break at 4 o'clock.  We have another matter to deal with, but if you want to proceed and go until 4 o'clock then we will finish with Mr. Millar and the --
     MS. DeMARCO:  I should warn you that I am likely to be probably closer to an hour and 15, 20 minutes rather 

than --
     MS. NOWINA:  We won't be able to do that today so I will let you decide whether or not you want to break it in half or wait until tomorrow.
     MS. DeMARCO:  I'm in the Board's hands.  My preference would be to have everything hang together, but I am certainly in the Board's hands.  I realize how long this proceeding has been going for.
     [The Board confers]
     MS. NOWINA:  Yes, Ms. DeMarco, my apologies, but I think we will ask you to proceed as far as you can today, given that tomorrow is going to be a short day.  We have another matter to deal with.  So we will just take a moment for the panel to come up.
     MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, while we wait for the panel to arrive, maybe we could just clear up one thing for the record.  Mr. Thompson asked that we get some copies of the letters he referred to and enter them into the ...     

MS. NOWINA:  Yes.
     MR. MILLAR:  In any event, we have those letters and if we could just give them exhibit numbers.
     MR. BATTISTA:  That will be Exhibit K28.2, compendium of correspondence regarding Accenture motion EB-2005-0001.
     EXHIBIT NO. K28.2:  compendium of correspondence

regarding Accenture motion EB-2005-0001 
     MR. BATTISTA:  And there are copies on the table by Mr. Hoey for interested parties.
     MR. HOWE:  Madam Chair, if I may be excused until tomorrow?  And if I can ask, through you, if any one of my friends needs a copy of the program agreement, to give me their card and I can make arrangements to have it delivered to their office.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Howe.
     MR. DINGWALL:  For the record, I will give Mr. Howe my card.
     MS. FUNG:  If I may also excuse myself.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  

Mr. Battista, we are wondering if we're getting a little confused with the undertaking numbers with the "X" one being 28.1, as well.  Perhaps the "K" undertakings should start from 28.2.


MR. BATTISTA:  I misspoke myself, and I think I corrected myself before lunch, that the one I called K(X)28.1 is really "X" ‑‑ just "X" without the "K", without the prefix, and the "K" means exhibit confidential, without the prefix "X".


MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you.  Then this one is K28.2?


MR. BATTISTA:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  I understand the witnesses are on their way, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Cass.


ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. PANEL 20; RESUMED:


KERRY LAKATOS-HAYWARD; Previously Sworn

STEPHEN McGILL; Previously Sworn


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, witnesses for returning.  I apologize for keeping you waiting all day.  We will probably do more of that to you again tomorrow.  


We are going to have Ms. DeMarco's cross‑examination.  Ms. DeMarco, representing?


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. DeMARCO:

MS. DeMARCO:  Superior Energy Management, Madam Chair.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Thank you, Mr. McGill, and thank you, Ms. Lakatos‑Hayward.  I appreciate that you have been on the stand for quite some time, so I will try to be as efficient and focussed as possible in my questions.  So in order to do that, and to that end, and in response to a number of questions that have been posed by your counsel and the Panel regarding where parties are going, I would like you to ‑‑ to provide you with some context and let you know exactly where Superior is going with this.


Mr. McGill has referred to the very long history on gas bills, billing and the utility's role in both, that has played out before this Board and the courts over the last decade.  Those battles, including the MBTF 179-14/15, the HVAC complaint, the Board outsourcing decisions, GDAR, the GDAR court appeals, GDAR implementation, the Natural Gas Forum and most recently the Entrac issues, all reflect tensions between the utility, on the one hand, and its position on its roles and responsibilities in relation to gas bills and gas billing, and, on the other hand, non‑utility service providers and their expectation that the utility should be impartial in gas billing and gas bill matters, and that all competitive service providers should not be, either directly or indirectly, precluded from access to gas distribution services through the gas bill.  


Caught in the middle of these warring factions are customers and ratepayers who are impacted by the cost causation and cost allocation associated with gas billing systems and related functions.  So Superior's questions today reflect its long‑standing position that all non‑utility service providers should be either directly or indirectly afforded fair, equal and non‑discriminatory access.


In that regard, I will be asking questions on four areas.  The first is the roles and responsibilities of Enbridge in relation to gas billing and the gas bill.


The second is in relation to Enbridge's relationships with Direct Energy relating to gas billing and the gas bill.


The third is the format and presentation of the gas bill, and the fourth is Enbridge Gas Distribution's due diligence surrounding gas billing and the gas bill in the context of its proposed CIS strategy.


I intend to attempt to canvass the first issue in full and have reviewed the transcript from yesterday to try and limit my questions on the last three issues to address only issues of confusion or issues absent on the record to date.  So I apologize in advance for what will appear to be a patchwork on those three issues.


Let me start first with questions relating to the roles and responsibilities specifically of Enbridge Gas Distribution in relation to the gas bill and gas billing.


Can I ask you to turn to, in Superior's book of authorities, at tab 4, HVAC Interrogatory No. 7?


Do you have that?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  And in that interrogatory, Enbridge is asked about oversight mechanisms and its roles and responsibility in relation to the OEB's codes of conduct and the gas bill.  And in the last two sentences of that response, Enbridge Gas Distribution indicates that:

"The presentation of other Direct Energy Essential Home Services charges that appear on the Enbridge bill, Direct Energy Essential Home Services bill messages and other Direct Energy home service ‑‑ Essential Home Services material inserted in the bill envelope are reviewed by Enbridge Gas Distribution prior to distribution and, if required by Enbridge Gas Distribution, are revised to meet Enbridge Gas Distribution's requirements.

"These other charges messages and bill inserts do not involve gas commodity charges."

     So is it fair to say, then, that Enbridge Gas Distribution's roles and responsibilities include reviewing and revising, if required, the content of the bill as reflected by the entity that shares the bill?


MR. McGILL:  Enbridge Gas Distribution -- as indicated in the interrogatory response, Enbridge Gas Distribution reviews the materials to be inserted in the bill that originate with Direct Energy, and there is a process to make any concerns known to Direct Energy, and typically there is some discussion with respect to the final wording that ends up in those documents that takes into account any concerns expressed by Enbridge Gas Distribution.
     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  And again, in HVAC 10, it does try and outline some of the, if you would, call them criteria that the company uses in reviewing that content.
     So for example, we would not entertain typically the inclusion of these materials promoting non-gas-fired appliances where gas-fired alternatives are available, nor will the company allow the promotion of these commodity supply arrangements within the bill envelope, and note these materials are included in the bill envelopes of those customers that do not obtain services of …
     MS. DeMARCO:  So you have anticipated my next question, but can I get an answer to my first question, with you which is Enbridge Gas Distribution's responsibilities in this regard definitely do include reviewing and revising as necessary; is that correct?
     MR. McGILL:  I indicated that Enbridge Gas Distribution reviews and expresses any concerns back to Direct Energy, and then there is a process of working with Direct Energy to make sure that the requirements of the company are met in the materials.
     So there is some dialogue before the final wording is agreed to.
     MS. DeMARCO:  So the distinction between what you've said and I've said, Mr. McGill, is that I indicated that it was my understanding that Enbridge revises.  But what I understand that you're saying is that Enbridge doesn't necessarily revise, sorry, Enbridge Gas Distribution doesn't necessarily revise.  There's a dialogue.  Is that correct?
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.  There is.
     MS. DeMARCO:  So is it Direct who actually revises?
     MR. McGILL:  If it's Direct's piece of correspondence, then it would be Direct's responsibility to finalize that, arrange for the printing of those materials and get them delivered to CustomerWorks or Accenture to have them inserted in the bills.
     MS. DeMARCO:  So is there any distinction, Mr. McGill, between billing insert revisions versus bill revisions?
     MR. McGILL:  You mean bill messages?
     MS. DeMARCO:  Anything --
     MR. McGILL:  Or bill format?  Yes.  Anything to do with the format of the bill, a bill message, I don't even know if there are specific bill messages that go on the bill with respect to Direct Energy items.  I don't believe there are.  But there would be a similar process in place.
     Nothing would get on the bill unless Enbridge Gas Distribution agreed to the final form of whatever it was going to be, in terms of either an insert or a changing in the format of the bill.
     MS. DeMARCO:  So there is no distinction as to whether or not it's format or on the bill versus a bill insert?  The same criteria applies; is that fair?
     MR. McGILL:  That's correct.
     MS. DeMARCO:  And do I take it from your answer, Ms. Lakatos-Hayward, that the exhaustive list of criteria that Enbridge applies in reviewing and potentially revising or causing to be revised those bills and bill inserts, are included in HVAC number 10?
     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  Those are the criteria that we would use.
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.  That's what we've indicated.  Those are the things that are of concern to Enbridge Gas Distribution, those areas that are referenced in that interrogatory response.
     MS. DeMARCO:  And that's an exhaustive list?
     MR. McGILL:  I wouldn't say it's exhaustive.  I think, my understanding is that it is EI as the licensor of the trademark to CWLP has the absolute final say in -- with respect to the bill content.
     EGD, as the party sharing the bill, is the most directly involved in making sure that content meets Enbridge's overall requirements, as well as the requirements of Enbridge Gas Distribution.
     MS. DeMARCO:  So just to ensure that I've got that correct, EI has the final say?
     MR. McGILL:  As the licensor of the trademark to CWLP, yes.
     MS. DeMARCO:  And EGD, its roles and responsibilities   you indicated include looking after EI's concerns as well as --
     MR. McGILL:  I would characterize it as being delegated the responsibility, because EGD is the one sharing the bill.  It's EGD's responsibility to make sure that its requirements are being met with respect to the bill.
     We've never run into an instance where there's been a drastic change required to the bill where we might have to take it up with EI and express a concern with them.
     What we're looking at is making sure that we're compliant with the rules we operate here, as a regulated utility in Ontario.
     MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  I appreciate the distinction.  Thank you.  So part of the rules, part of your due diligence in exercising that function would include, for example, compliance with relevant codes of conduct, is that fair?
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.
     MS. DeMARCO:  Relevant rules; is that fair?
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.
     MS. DeMARCO:  Relevant board decisions and directions; is that fair?
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.
     MS. DeMARCO:  And ultimately EI would rule, should you have any issue?
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.  If we got into a situation where -- and what I would have in mind, if it was something completely out of the ordinary that we'd never done on the bill before, and we might have to take that up with EI to get their input into the decision.
     MS. DeMARCO:  Sorry, are they getting more input, or are you getting their input?
     MR. McGILL:  I think we would be giving EI input as to what EGD's position and concern might be.
     MS. DeMARCO:  And EI would make the final call.  Okay.  Can I ask you to turn to what was marked yesterday at the end of the day as K27.8, which is a decision on the motion dated May 27th, 2004.  It's on a motion brought by Ontario Energy Savings Corp. and Superior Energy Management in relation to customer communications broadly.

     MR. McGILL:  Yes.
     MS. DeMARCO:  If I can ask you to turn to the last page of that decision.
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.
     MS. DeMARCO:  Subject to check, if you want to have some time to review it, I would be happy to take some time.  The passage is focussed on Enbridge Gas Distribution's customer communications in bills, and about halfway down the last paragraph, the Board specifically indicates -- it's the last two sentences of that paragraph:   

"We are particularly concerned that no customer

communication be issued, which would have the

effect of creating confusion in the market or

which would use EGDI's market position as the

distributor to unreasonably skew the market

towards system supply and away from the

competitive environment as addressed by section

2, paragraph 1 of the Act.  Should complaints be

substantiated in this connection, whether from

customers or other market participants, the Board

would consider appropriate action."      

Is that fair?
     MR. McGILL:  Yes, that's what it says.
     MS. DeMARCO:  So in part or as part of Enbridge Gas Distribution's due diligence surrounding both the bill and billing inserts, is it fair to say that Enbridge Gas Distribution would consider Enbridge Gas Distribution's market position as a distributor?
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.
     MS. DeMARCO:  Is it also fair it would look at the impact of that communication on the market?
     MR. McGILL:  Yes, those are the types of things we would consider.
     MS. DeMARCO:  Similarly, the impact on the competitive environment?
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.  We would consider that as well.
     MS. DeMARCO:  And you would also look at, am I correct, any potential impact of the material that could have the effect of skewing the market; is that correct?
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.
     MS. DeMARCO:  Mr. McGill, is it also correct that -- to say that Enbridge Gas Distribution's roles and responsibilities relating to the gas bill and gas billing include responsibilities relating to payment?
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.  We like to be paid.
     MS. DeMARCO:  Specifically, in relation to the transcript, volume 27, if I ask you to turn to page 17 there.


MR. McGILL:  Yes, I have the page.


MR. HOAKEN:  I'm sorry, I missed that reference, Ms. DeMarco.


MS. DeMARCO:  That's transcript volume 27, page 7, starting at line 23.


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  You were asked there, Mr. McGill, if matters were solely between CWLP and the third-party biller, and at line 23 you indicate:  

"Largely, the only point that would need to be addressed amongst all the parties on the bill would be the application of payment."


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  So fair to say that that also falls within Enbridge Gas Distribution's roles and responsibilities in relation to the gas bill and gas billing?


MR. McGILL:  Yes, to the extent the bill is shared now, and presumably will be shared by more parties in the future, it would be, I think, a concern of all the parties sharing the bill as to how payments would be applied to the charges of each of those parties and that there would have to be some understanding amongst those parties as to how payments were to be applied.


MS. DeMARCO:  So, specifically, allocation of payments is part of Enbridge's responsibilities?


MR. McGILL:  I think it would be a responsibility of all the parties that were having their charges billed on the bill.


MS. DeMARCO:  Including Enbridge Gas Distribution?


MR. McGILL:  Including Enbridge Gas Distribution, yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  Is it also fair to say, Mr. McGill or Ms. Lakatos‑Hayward, that Enbridge Gas Distribution's roles and responsibilities relating to the gas bill and gas billing also involve establishing or managing CWLP's commercial billing relationships?


MR. McGILL:  To the extent the bill is shared, yes.  Enbridge Gas Distribution wouldn't want to see something happen with the bill that would be harmful to its position, its position in the marketplace, and it wouldn't want to see something happen in the bill that would put Enbridge Gas Distribution off side with any regulatory requirements that it has to operate under.


So all of those things, in addition to some of the other ones we've spoken to earlier, would all be matters for EGD to consider and take positions on, if necessary.


MS. DeMARCO:  In fact, part of their roles and responsibilities; correct?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  Can I ask you to turn to the transcript, volume 27, at page 26, starting at line 14?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  Is it fair to say that there Ms. Lakatos‑Hayward effectively elaborates on Enbridge Gas Distribution's role in managing CustomerWorks Limited Partnership's commercial relationships; is that fair?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I believe what we've characterized there is that EGD may have a role in facilitating discussions.  And in this case, what I was referring to was third-party access of parties like HVAC dealers to the bill, because there's a direct interest and benefit to increasing throughput.


MS. DeMARCO:  Is it fair to say, though, that you're not restricting it to HVAC dealers; is that correct?  Your answer doesn't appear to mention HVAC.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  No, but I think that was the context in which the question was asked.


MS. DeMARCO:  In terms of your answer here, we're looking at Enbridge Gas Distribution.  Specifically you state EGD would like to play ‑‑ the role that EGD would like to play in facilitating any discussions.


I take it that those discussions pertain to discussions between CWLP and what you call channel partners?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct, channel partners.


MS. DeMARCO:  And what are channel partners?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Channel partners could be anyone from an HVAC dealer to retailers of natural gas products.  Our channels could be as broad as other utilities.  So it is really anyone that has a role in distributing or making available natural gas products to our customers.


MS. DeMARCO:  So is it fair to say, then, Enbridge Gas Distribution's role in assisting managing commercial relationships for CWLP extends far beyond HVAC dealers?  We're talking about, as you said, utilities and marketers and others; is that fair?


MR. McGILL:  But the end goal is ‑‑


MS. DeMARCO:  Sorry, I haven't heard her answer.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Right.  Well, I think you inserted the word "marketers" there, and so I just want to be very careful.  When I talked about channels, specifically what I was referring to was, again, retailers of natural gas products, HVAC dealers, other utilities, again, that have an interest in increasing penetration of natural gas products.


MS. DeMARCO:  So it's your intention, for these discussions that you're facilitating, to apply only to entities other than natural gas marketers; is that fair?


MR. McGILL:  Not necessarily.  If there happened to be a natural gas marketer that was interested in getting into the HVAC business that perhaps isn't marketing gas‑fired equipment now, then we certainly won't view them as a channel partner and hope to be able to assist them in getting their charges onto the Enbridge bill.


MS. DeMARCO:  So ‑‑


MR. McGILL:  It's not necessary for these entities to be mutually exclusive.


MS. DeMARCO:  So possibly natural gas marketers?


MR. McGILL:  Yes, but in terms of HVAC products and services versus natural gas commodity, I think we need to draw a distinction with respect to the rules we operate under.


We have the Gas Distribution Access Rule that is designed to deal with issues of commodity and distribution services.  When we're talking about HVAC products and services, we're talking about something very different.


MS. DeMARCO:  So do I take it, then, that all of your discussions regarding on‑bill financing would relate strictly to entities providing only HVAC services?


MR. McGILL:  That would be our primary focus, yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  But ‑‑


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Again, if a gas marketer had wanted to get into the business of offering financing of gas products to their customers and wanted to talk to CWLP and ask for assistance from EGD, that's certainly something that, as Mr. McGill explained, that we would contemplate.


MR. McGILL:  We would welcome that.


MS. DeMARCO:  So not only HVAC service providers; that's fair?


MR. McGILL:  No.


MS. DeMARCO:  Can I ask you to turn to the transcript at page 19?


MR. McGILL:  Yes, I have the page.


MS. DeMARCO:  Starting at line 12, you're talking about Enbridge Gas Distribution's costs resulting from a shared bill.


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  Then down at line 36 ‑‑ sorry, 26 ‑‑


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  ‑‑ Mr. Hoaken asked you a question related to Direct Energy finding alternate billing arrangements and specifically asked you:  

"And if Direct Energy did decide to pursue alternative billing arrangements, then what EGD would be in the position of trying to do to avoid a negative impact on ratepayers would be effectively to find a third party or third parties who would have 1.2 million customers who could then share the billing costs according to the same formula; is that fair?"


You answer at line 5 on page 20:   

"That would probably be one of the many things that we would be doing in an attempt to reduce our costs." 


Have I got that right?


MR. McGILL:  Yes, to mitigate the impact of losing that benefit.


MS. DeMARCO:  So then, fair to say that EGD's responsibilities and roles in relation to the gas bill and gas billing would include finding third parties to share the gas bill with for CWLP?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.  To an extent, there would be the potential for some further cost savings under the CSA that we have in place with CWLP now.  That would be another benefit.  To the extent we ended up with more shared bills -- and to the extent that we had more shared bills, I'm not sure, from a quantification standpoint, how significant it may be, but that would be an opportunity to us.  

     Again, but the primary driver is to get more gas-fired equipment in operation in the service area.
     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Again, maybe Mr. McGill could assist me on this point, but in reference to the -- having to find 1.2 million customers, these would be 1.2 million incremental customers that would not already be taking a service.  I mean we're looking to reduce costs.  So these would be rental-type customers, or financing-type customers.
     If there's ABC charges already being made, that's not going to be any incremental benefit to reducing costs.
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.  From the standpoint of agent billing and collection, that does not count as a shared bill for the purposes of fee calculation under the CSA, and the reason for that is because EGD has taken an assignment of those receivables and collects those amounts on their own account.
     MS. DeMARCO:  So is it fair to say, then, Enbridge's roles and responsibilities include effectively sourcing commercial relationships for CWLP to potentially enter into?
     MR. McGILL:  Well, I don't think that's a fair way to characterize it.  I think we've explained that EGD is not in a position to provide billing services to third parties.  EGD doesn't believe that it would be appropriate for the utility to be providing those kinds of services to third parties, based on different costs and risk profile in the business.
     We believe that we can assist parties in getting their charges on to the Enbridge bill by assisting and helping the dialogue between those parties and CWLP.
     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I think that the primary motivation here and why we're trying to facilitate this role -- I mean it certainly would be nice if we can increase the number of shared bills and reduce costs.  But it really is, again, from a question of trying to increase penetration of natural gas products, and, again, make it easier for customers to go gas.  So that's really the primary motivation.
     I didn't quite that get that in the context of how you phrased the question.
     MS. DeMARCO:  I would be happy to come back to the issue of Enbridge promoting or increasing penetration of natural gas, but I will leave that on holds for now, if I might.
     So is it fair to say that, I did not correctly understand your first position, in that you weren't saying that Enbridge has no responsibilities and roles in relation to the gas bill and gas billing; is that correct?
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.  Enbridge Gas Distribution definitely has responsibilities with respect to the billing of its charges.
     MS. DeMARCO:  So what more accurately your position is, is that Enbridge Gas Distribution's role cannot include entering into a direct commercial relationship relating to billing; is that right?
     MR. McGILL:  Into a direct commercial relationship for the provision of billing services.
     MS. DeMARCO:  What's the difference between “related to billing” and “for the provision of billing services?”
     MR. McGILL:  Well, related to billing might be introducing people from a potential HVAC vendor to the people that they would need to speak to at CWLP and Accenture.  That's a lot different from selling that party the billing service.
     MS. DeMARCO:  So you can walk to the aisle but you can't get married?
     MR. McGILL:  That would be one way of putting it, but I don't even think we would be going to that extent.  We want to bring the parties together.  We want to make sure this happens.
     MS. DeMARCO:  So again to use the vernacular, you can date, but you can't get married?
     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Maybe we can be a matchmaker.
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.  That's more, a more apt analogy, I think if you want to keep it in the dating context.
     MS. DeMARCO:  I won't start humming the theme song from the matchmaker now.  

In terms of your position in relation to the 1999 undertakings given to the LGIC, I understand it that your position is that EGD is precluded from billing for anything other than distribution, transmission and storage of gas; is that correct?
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.  To the extent that billing is business-function required to operate the gas distribution business, that's correct.  I think the undertakings are very clear with respect to the restrictions on Enbridge Gas Distribution's business activities.
     MS. DeMARCO:  Just on the record here, a point of clarity.  By inference do I take it that it's your position that EGD is precluded from billing directly for natural gas commodity that it sells?
     MR. McGILL:  Well, I think Enbridge Gas Distribution, without the exemption we have to the undertakings today, with respect to the sale of system gas, yes, if we weren't allowed to sell system gas, we wouldn't be allowed to bill for it.
     MS. DeMARCO:  So to be clear, you are taking the position that you are allowed to bill for system gas directly.
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.  Because the billing is a business function that's required in order to sell system gas.
     MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  So in summary, then, EGD can't enter into commercial arrangements for provision of billing services in your position; have I got that right?
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.
     MS. DeMARCO:  You can enter into or commence relationships related to billing.
     MR. McGILL:  No.  I don't think we said we would enter into them.  I think we said that we would facilitate them.  We would be the matchmaker.  We would try to bring the parties together who would then enter into some kind of contractual arrangement.
     MS. DeMARCO:  So not entering into their arrangements themselves, but facilitating or entering into the discussions; that's fair?
     MR. McGILL:  Facilitating the discussions.
     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  Now I have a few clarification questions relating to Enbridge's relationship with Direct.  

Madam Chair, I am hoping that I can get through this in 10 minutes.  I'm in your hands.
     MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead, Ms. DeMarco.
     MS. DeMARCO:  Mr. McGill, can you tell me what the monthly ABC fee is?
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.  For rate 1, customers it is $1.05 per bill.  For rate 6, I believe it is $2 per bill.  And for the contract service rates, which would be rate 100 and higher rate numbers in the schedules, $5 per month.
     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  Now, moving on to your relationship with Direct.  Just by way of context that I will be referring to regularly, at tab 1 of our book of materials there's a diagram showing the web of relationships.
     Again, I apologize in advance because I am trying to do some patchwork as opposed to a full logical progression of questions here.
     Can I start first with the existing Enbridge Inc./Direct Energy relationship.  Do I understand correctly, from the record, that the relationship under the Enbridge Inc./Direct Energy purchase and sale ESI purchase and sale agreements, still governs today?
     MR. McGILL:  Well, I think yesterday we talked about the two undertakings associated with the sale of ESI to Direct Energy.
     The other thing that was corrected yesterday, with respect to your diagram, is that what you've -- the line that you have marked on the right outside edge of the diagram trademark license agreement; that agreement is actually between EI and CWLP.
     MS. DeMARCO:  I would like to come back to that specific point.  But in relation to the governing 

agreement --
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.
     MS. DeMARCO:  -- do I understand that the agreement which expires on December 31st, 2005, between Direct Energy and EI still governs. 


MR. McGILL:  Yes, for the rest of this year.


MS. DeMARCO:  So if I understand correctly, it's now been replaced, but that replacement is not yet effective? 


MR. McGILL:  My understanding is that with respect to Direct continuing to acquire customer care services from CWLP beyond December 31st of this year, that EI has indicated to Direct that they will have access to the Enbridge bill for as long as they are a client of CWLP with respect to billing services, and that that access to the bill will no longer be exclusive after December 31st of this year.


MS. DeMARCO:  Just to be certain, the December 31st ‑‑ I'm sorry, do you want to clarify that, Ms. Lakatos‑Hayward?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  No, that's okay.  I was just clarifying a point to Mr. McGill.  That's okay.


MS. DeMARCO:  What he said on the record is accurate?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes, that's fine.


MS. DeMARCO:  So the December 31st, 2005 agreement still governs until that point.  And in relation to the two undertakings that you spoke specifically about, do I understand correctly on the record that the exclusivity clause precludes any other service provider access, meaning both to the line items or to the logo, to the Enbridge bill?


MR. McGILL:  I'm not ‑‑ it's exclusive with respect to the service provider, and the undertaking also provided for Enbridge Gas Distribution continuing to operate agent billing and collection.


So in terms of line items, it was specific to Direct Energy, HVAC products and services, and it excluded gas commodity, thereby providing for EGD's continued offering of agent billing and collection.


MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  Just to put some practical parameters around this, Mr. McGill, that would allow, for example, Visa to bill through the Enbridge bill?


MR. McGILL:  Only with respect to the sale of gas commodity.  So if Visa became a gas marketer, they could sign a collection services agreement, just like any other gas marketer, and from that point forward they would be in a position to bill and collect gas commodity charges for Visa.  


MS. DeMARCO:  So Visa could not bill other charges?


MR. McGILL:  That's correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  So the exclusivity clause would extend to Visa billing other charges?


MR. McGILL:  On the Enbridge bill, yes, except for commodity billed through the agent billing collection program.


MS. DeMARCO:  I understand the distinction you're making here, in relation to the ABC line items.


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  But for other items, Visa could not?


MR. McGILL:  My understanding is no other party, other than Enbridge Gas Distribution and Direct Energy, can be on the bill until the end of the year, apart from commodity billing for gas marketers, subject to collection services agreements.


MS. DeMARCO:  What about, for example, OESC's logo?  Could that be on the bill?


MR. McGILL:  With respect to the gas commodity line items, I don't believe there is any contractual prohibition from doing that.


MS. DeMARCO:  So the exclusivity does not extend to, say, for example, an ABC provider's logo going on the bill?


MR. McGILL:  No.  And if we were to undertake that kind of initiative, we would offer it to all of the gas commodity marketers that avail themselves of the agent billing collection service, on the same basis, the same way that we offer the ABC service to them now.


MS. DeMARCO:  And that exclusivity is for the term of the agreement extending to December 31st, 2005?


MR. McGILL:  Yes, that was ‑‑ it covered the initial services agreement between Direct Energy and CWLP.


MS. DeMARCO:  So now referring to what I will call the second undertaking, the non‑compete, is it my understanding that the scope of that non‑compete is distinct from the scope ‑‑


MR. McGILL:  Yes.  Yes.  What I have been advised is the scope of the non‑compete extended to the products and services that ESI was selling at the time Direct Energy acquired ESI.


MS. DeMARCO:  So, practically, walk me through.  What are the differences there?


MR. McGILL:  Well, like, I'm not sure if I'm aware of all of the things that ESI offered at the time Direct acquired them.  But, for example, hot water heater rentals, that was a business that ESI had carried out at the time it was acquired by Direct, so the non‑compete would extend to hot water heater rentals.  


I guess once the exclusive access to the bill fell by the wayside at the end of this year, if a party came to us and it made sense who wanted to charge for the rental of televisions, let's say, there wouldn't be anything contractually prohibiting that line item from being put on the Enbridge bill, because it wouldn't be in competition with any product or service that ESI offered.  I'm sure they weren't renting televisions in May of 2002.  


So I don't think that would be seen to fall within the scope of the non‑compete, which falls by the wayside this coming May.


MS. DeMARCO:  So broad brush, exclusivity, very broad, anyone other than ABC?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  Non‑compete, narrower?


MR. McGILL:  It's much narrower.


MS. DeMARCO:  Relating to anything that ESI was doing when the business was sold?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  We don't have a complete list of those services, do we?


MR. McGILL:  I could probably note the major ones, but I don't think it would be a conclusive list, no.


MS. DeMARCO:  Could you undertake to provide us with a conclusive list of what was included or what is, I guess more precisely, included in that exclusivity clause?


MR. McGILL:  Yes, I could undertake to try to do that, but it was out of our hands at that point in time.  So I will go back and try to put together the most comprehensive list of those products and services I can.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J28.1.


UNDERTAKING NO. J28.1:  LIST OF PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

MS. DeMARCO:  Now I would like to take you back to the actual diagram at tab 1.  As I understand it, you indicated on Friday that the original Direct Energy/Enbridge Inc. relationships and undertakings do not include a trademark licence agreement?


MR. McGILL:  No.  The trademark licence agreement is between EI and CWLP.


MS. DeMARCO:  Can I ask you to turn to Exhibit K27.5, which is a billing insert that Mr. Dingwall indicated or introduced yesterday?


MR. McGILL:  Yes, we have that.


MS. DeMARCO:  That's a two‑sided document.  Specifically the side where the house appears on the right‑hand side of the document.  Do you have that?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  Can I ask you first to confirm that, in the middle of that page, the logo -- there is Direct Energy Essential Home Services' logo?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  There is a broad brush Direct Energy, and immediately under that it says "Essential Home Services"?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  And that is, in fact, the logo for Direct Energy Essential Home Services?


MR. McGILL:  As far as I know, yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  Secondly, under that logo, in the third line, it indicates:

"The Enbridge name is used under licence from Enbridge Inc."


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  Have I got that right?


MR. McGILL:  Yes, but it doesn't say who the licence is granted to.


[Witness panel confers]

     MR. McGILL:  Yes.  And we believe that this reference is pertaining to the reference on the reverse side of the document, where there is a reference to the Enbridge bill.
     MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  Leaving aside the reference.  Is it fair to say that this appears to indicate, to customers, that Direct has license from Enbridge Inc.?
     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  No, I wouldn't agree with that characterization.  What it's indicating is that Direct Energy and Enbridge are two different companies and it's just setting out, you know, the various trademarks and relationships between the two companies.  If we want to read it all into the record, but I didn't -- wouldn't take your interpretation.
     MS. DeMARCO:  Sorry, Ms. Lakatos-Hayward.  What about the Enbridge name is “used under license from Enbridge Inc." would make you not think that customers were being told that the Enbridge name is used under license from Enbridge Inc.?
     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Well, as we were talking about on the next page where you do see the Enbridge bill, we believe that that is in reference to that.
     MS. DeMARCO:  I'm sorry.  I'm referring specifically to the third sentence --
     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.
     MS. DeMARCO:  -- on the front page which has the house in the corner.  It indicates “The Enbridge name is used under license from Enbridge Inc."
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.  Then it goes on to say that Direct Energy Essential Home Services is not affiliated with Enbridge Gas Distribution.  And I guess the dilemma that we have is that given the situation, the question we have to ask is:  Is it better to identify the fact that the Enbridge name is used under license, or to remain silent on that and let customers infer what they may with respect to the reference to the Enbridge bill.  And our view is it is better to inform the customers.
     MS. DeMARCO:  So Direct here, as I read it, is informing customers that the Enbridge name is used under license from Enbridge Inc.  It seems to me fairly obvious that's what it is saying.
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.
     MS. DeMARCO:  Would you agree, Ms. Lakatos-Hayward?
     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Well, again, I'm having a little bit of trouble on where you're trying to draw the conclusions.
     MS. DeMARCO:  I'm asking a very simple question.  Does it say the Enbridge name is used under license from Enbridge Inc.?  I'm not drawing any conclusions.  Do you agree?
     MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Well, without drawing any conclusions, yes, that's what it says.
     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.
     MS. NOWINA:  Ms. DeMarco, would you wrap it up for today.
     MS. DeMARCO:  Why don't I continue from there tomorrow.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.  

We will now break until 1 o'clock tomorrow afternoon.  We will begin with the discussion of the customer care program agreement.
     --- Whereupon hearing adjourns at 4:05 p.m.   
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